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brand trust



brand (brand) n. 1. A trademark or 
distinctive name identifying a product 
or manufacturer.

˘

trust (trust) n.1. 
Firm reliance on 
the integrity, ability 
or character of a 
person or thing. 

˘
brand trust
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Brand Trust (brand trust) 
n., pl. [ME., brond traust (rare)] 
1. the ideal that permeates RPM 
and its products and services, 
based on a legacy of knowledge, 
innovation, integrity, talent and 
commitment. 2. an intangible 
asset that fuels RPM’s successful 
growth strategy.

˘ ˘



RPM International Inc. (NYSE: RPM) is a multinational holding company 

with subsidiaries that provide high-performance coatings, sealants and 

specialty chemicals to industrial and consumer markets, primarily 

for maintenance and improvement. Several hallmarks of our 

company are critical to our success: our reputation as the best home 

for entrepreneurial companies in our industry; 

our widely recognized, market-leading brands; our 

passion for growth; and a corporate philosophy that 

we refer to as “the value of 168.”

            The father of this philosophy is our late founder, 

Frank C. Sullivan, left, who viewed 168 – the number 

of hours in a week – as a reminder that all of us have an obligation to make 

good use of the time we are given.

 For us at RPM, this philosophy is central to the network of mutually 

rewarding relationships that we have formed with one another and with 

the customers and stockholders whom we serve.  We take pride in the 

longevity of these associations.  We believe it reflects a work environment 

enriched by innovation, opportunity and an ethic of responsibility, which 

we embrace individually and as an organization.

A Balanced Portfolio of Leading Brands

 RPM’s industrial products include roofing systems, sealants, 

corrosion control coatings, flooring coatings and specialty chemicals.  

Industrial brands include Stonhard, Tremco, Carboline, Day-Glo, Euco 

and Dryvit. RPM’s consumer products are used by professionals and do-

it-yourselfers for home maintenance and improvement, automotive and 

boat repair and maintenance, and by hobbyists.  Consumer brands include 

Zinsser, Rust-Oleum, DAP, Varathane, Bondo and Testors.
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 20051 2004 20032  

     

(In millions, except per share and percent data)   

Net sales $ 2,555.7 $ 2,307.6 $2,053.5

Asbestos charges $ 78.0   $ 140.0

Income before taxes $ 163.7 $ 217.6 $ 47.9

Net income  $ 105.0 $ 141.9 $ 35.3

Return on sales  4.1%  6.1%  1.7%

Return on stockholders’ equity  10.4%  15.3%  4.1%

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.86 $ 1.16 $ 0.30

Cash dividends per share $ 0.590 $ 0.550 $ 0.515

Year Ended May 31

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

I am pleased to report another year of record growth 

and strong fi nancial performance for RPM’s customers and 

stockholders, despite the most challenging raw material 

cost and availability environment in more than a generation; 

increasing global competition; and another year of costly and, 

very often, fraudulent asbestos lawsuits.

How was this possible? Certainly, our ability to continue 

to create value from our enduring strategy of acquisitions, 

internal growth and leveraging capabilities played a major role. 

The underlying strength of our balanced portfolio of leading 

consumer and industrial brands was also critical to our success. 

But, fundamentally, it is the talent, integrity and commitment 

of our 8,000 employees worldwide that allowed us to extend 

our enviable performance track record, which now stands at 58 

consecutive years of record results.

Most importantly, we achieved our goals without 

compromising our commitment to the highest-quality products 

and services in our industry, while continuing to invest in future 

growth and remaining cognizant of our obligation to provide 

people with product value, employment opportunity, and a 

positive and growing return on their capital investment.

A unique phrase, which helps defi ne what we do and 

how we do it, serves to explain this sense of obligation. We call 

this intangible asset “brand trust.” 

PRODUCT PERFORMANCE YOU CAN TRUST 

Brand trust is a market differentiator, a special factor that 

only the best products and best companies enjoy. For RPM, 

brand trust speaks to the quality and consistency of the products 

we manufacture and the services we deliver, the type of product 

lines we invest in and the nature of the businesses we acquire. It 

also helps determine which initiatives we halt, which products 

we discontinue and which businesses we choose to divest. In 

short, it is key to understanding how we do business. 

It explains why, for instance, Stonhard is called on to 

replace nearly 2 million square feet of competitors’ fl ooring 

each year. And why only Tremco’s WTI was able to solve 

waterproofi ng and roofi ng problems that the U.S. Army had 

battled for decades without success. These are but a few 

examples of the trust our products and people have established 

in the marketplace.

Without brand trust, the results from the internal growth 

component of our strategy would not be as strong as they are 

To the STOCKHOLDERS, 
       CUSTOMERS and 
               ASSOCIATES of RPM:

Management believes that the inclusion of the following non-GAAP financial data provides investors with additional insight into pertinent performance measures of the business, and that it should be viewed as 
supplemental data, rather than as substitutes or alternatives to GAAP measures of performance. For further information, see Note H of the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of asbestos charges.

(1) Excluding the impact of the $78.0 million pre-tax ($49.5 million after-tax) asbestos charges, income before taxes would have been $241.7 million; net income, $154.5 million; return on sales, 6.0%; return on 
stockholders’ equity, 15.3%; and diluted earnings per share, $1.25. The asbestos charges diluted earnings by $0.39. 

(2) Excluding the impact of the $140.0 million pre-tax ($88 million after-tax) asbestos charge, income before taxes would have been $187.9 million; net income, $122.8 million; return on sales, 5.9%; return on 
stockholders’ equity, 13.5%; and diluted earnings per share, $1.06. The asbestos charge diluted earnings by $0.76. 



year in and year out. Because we have established this invalu-

able equity with our customers, we are able to pursue unique 

– and, many times, still-evolving – niches in the markets we 

serve. For example:

■■ Tremco Sealants’ fi restopping systems – These 

systems help builders design “smart” structures that contain 

fi re. Building on Tremco’s existing capabilities, we created this 

business unit in 2002, with signifi cant upfront investment in 

product development and testing. Sales have soared each year 

as this success story evolves. 

■■ Euclid Chemical expands admixture business – In 

2003, Euclid Chemical set out to grow its North American sales 

60 percent in fi ve years through geographic expansion. With 

the well-timed acquisition of Boral that June, the company 

accelerated expansion in the South and Southwest – and grew 

sales 40 percent. In a consolidating industry, Euclid Chemical 

is rapidly becoming an international partner with ever-larger 

concrete producers.

■■ EPOXY SHIELD brand expansion – The acquisition of a 

$2 million product line opened the door for Rust-Oleum to own 

the garage fl oor coating market – and this success story will only 

get better as the company introduces EPOXY SHIELD concrete 

stains and leverages installed-services opportunities through 

the growing do-it-for-you (DIFY) market for this and additional 

product categories.   

■■ Zinsser takes on mold and mildew – Zinsser has 

developed a collection of products to help consumers battle 

household mold and mildew in such moisture-prone areas as 

basements and bathrooms as well as on exterior siding. We are 

the leader in this area of growing concern for homeowners.

■■ Dryvit residential re-entry – Long a leader in 

commercial construction, Dryvit faced challenges in some 

residential applications. Having resolved this issue, we are 

introducing a new product in this market because we believe in 

the long-term value of the exterior waterproofi ng, insulation 

and beautifi cation properties this reputable brand offers. 

We have the right product to meet a growing demand – but 

only with brand trust could we expect consumers to support 

our re-entry.  

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE YOU CAN TRUST

Signifi cant brand trust with customers takes years 

to build – and only seconds to lose. This also holds true for 

the trust between a company and its stockholders. With 

the same unwavering focus we bring to the marketplace, we 

explore opportunities to create value for our stockholders. 

Fiscal 2005, for example, marked our 31st consecutive year of 

dividend increases. In addition, we reached another milestone 

this past year when stockholders’ equity surpassed $1 billion for 

the fi rst time.   

We have earned our stockholders’ trust the right way by: 

consistently delivering robust growth through a proven strategy;  

adhering to strong corporate governance and disclosure 

Frank C. Sullivan, President and Chief Executive Offi cer, on the newly installed 

Stonhard fl oor at the Rock and Roll Hall of Fame and Museum in Cleveland
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practices long before they were mandated; providing candid 

and timely communications regarding challenges; and creating 

long-term stockholder value.

In fi scal 2005, we generated $2.556 billion in revenues, a 

10.8 percent improvement over fi scal 2004. Of this growth, 

8.1 percent was internal, 1.3 percent came from acquisi-

tions and the remainder was from favorable foreign currency 

translation. Reported net income was $105.0 million and diluted 

earnings per share reached $0.86. Excluding the $78 million of 

pre-tax asbestos charges we took in 2005 (see Note H on page 

49 for details), adjusted net income of $154.5 million increased 

8.9 percent versus last year, while adjusted diluted earnings per 

share rose 7.8 percent to $1.25. 

For fi scal 2006, we project 6 percent to 8 percent growth 

in revenues and 8 percent to 10 percent growth in earnings

before asbestos-related costs and the positive impact of future 

acquisitions. The underlying fundamentals of our business are as 

encouraging as I can recall. Momentum, that all-important 

force in the life of a company, continues in the right direction 

for RPM.

EUROPEAN EXPANSION

In line with our stated goal of growing more aggres-

sively in the European market, last month we announced 

the acquisition of Illbruck Sealant Systems, a $190 million 

high-performance sealant and installation systems manufac-

turer in Leverkusen, Germany. As part of the Tremco Group, 

Illbruck will take Tremco Europe from a $50 million business to 

$240 million. After an initial period of acquisition integration 

costs, we expect Illbruck to contribute 3 cents to 5 cents per 

diluted share in fi scal 2007.

Illbruck is an ideal strategic and cultural fi t with RPM’s 

portfolio of leading brand names. This acquisition, which we 

expect to close in the next several weeks, advances us toward 

our goal of establishing a $500 million presence in Europe and 

brings better geographic balance to a portfolio that derives 

75 percent of its revenues from the United States and 

25 percent from international markets.  

JOB WELL DONE 

I am delighted to report that during the year, we 

welcomed the safe return from military duty of all fi ve of the 

heroes we featured in last year’s annual report. We are deeply 

proud of their contribution to the cause of freedom. 

We also welcomed Ernst & Young LLP to the RPM team 

as the company’s new independent audit fi rm. Ernst & Young 

brings global capabilities well suited to our long-term business 

strategy. This appointment ends a relationship with Ciulla, Smith 

& Dale, LLP begun by my grandfather in 1964, when RPM 

revenues totaled $3.5 million. Through hundreds of securities 
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underwritings, acquisitions, and SEC fi lings and reviews, this 

fi rm has been a partner to our growth and success for more 

than 40 years. I want to publicly thank all the professionals of 

Ciulla, Smith & Dale for serving RPM and our stockholders with 

distinction.

I also want to express my great appreciation to Albert B. 

Ratner, who will retire from our Board of Directors in October. 

Albert brought to his role as an RPM director a keen intellect, 

tremendous insight, and the same passion that has been so 

instrumental to his business success and civic impact throughout 

the world. He has made a lasting contribution to RPM, and to 

me personally, that will long surpass his decade of exemplary 

service to our stockholders.    

THE GROWTH STORY CONTINUES

What does brand trust mean for long-term stockholders? 

Those who have held RPM stock for 20 years have been 

rewarded with a compounded annual return of 13.5 percent, 

and today enjoy a 19 percent annual cash return on their original 

investment. A track record like this creates a strong, stable base 

of individual stockholders that reduces volatility, to the benefi t 

of not only small investors, but institutional holders as well.  

Since 2002, our sales and adjusted earnings have grown 

at a compounded annual rate of 9 percent and 15 percent, 

respectively. During this period, RPM improved its net debt to 

capital from 44 percent to 38 percent while funding accelerating 

growth and $155 million in acquisitions.  Concurrently, our cash 

dividend increased 20 percent.

We have sustained this pace the last three years despite 

a major industrial market recession, soaring raw material costs 

and the asbestos litigation crisis. Just imagine what more we 

can do when we put these challenges behind us. We do.

A FINAL THOUGHT ON TRUST

Trust is a commodity, unfortunately, in short supply 

among major U.S. institutions these days. A recent poll of public 

confi dence confi rmed this statement, especially for corporate 

America, which tied Congress as the second-lowest-rated 

institution in our society.

These results refl ect a betrayal of trust that runs much 

deeper than dissatisfaction with a particular product or an 

anemic stock price. People trust companies with their careers, 

their livelihoods, their investment capital, their retirement 

dreams – and the well-publicized betrayal of that trust has 

triggered a backlash that tarnishes every company. 

At RPM, we strive to get it right – and our proven business 

strategy, our track record of profi table growth, our ability to 

provide a quality product at a fair price and to consistently 

deliver increasing stockholder value testify to our success and 

the importance of brand trust in all that we do. 

None of this would be possible without the reciprocal 

trust of our multiple constituencies. It is fundamental to our 

success. In closing, I thank you for the privilege of serving you 

and promise that we at RPM will do everything in our power to 

ensure that we continue to earn your trust.  

  
Frank C. Sullivan

President and Chief Executive Offi cer

August 25, 2005

The brand trust that RPM maintains with customers 

and investors is mirrored by the reputation we enjoy 

for contributing to the betterment of the communities 

where we operate. From donating paint to partnering 

with schools to lending our legal department’s expertise 

to provide free counsel to those most in need, we 

support our communities at both the corporate and 

operating company levels.

As a United Way Pacesetter partner, we have 

increased our annual contribution 5 percent in each 

of the last six years. We supplement our monetary 

gifts to nonprofi t groups with in-kind services with 

a combined value of millions of dollars a year, with a 

focus on health and human services, education, civic 

affairs and the arts.

Much of the credit for our shared sense of  

corporate responsibility belongs to my father, Tom 

Sullivan, who set the tone during his 31-year tenure 

as RPM’s leader. He taught us that community service 

is an obligation, not an option, for a company and 

its people. We adhere to this principle today as 

we cultivate enduring civic partnerships built on a 

foundation of trust.

Earning Trust 
         in the Community
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 For many, a house is not only the family sanctuary 

and a trove of precious memories, but the biggest invest-

ment they will ever make. That’s why generations of 

homeowners have chosen RPM brands to preserve, protect 

and beautify their treasured living spaces. Our products 

can be found in literally every room of the house – and 

outside as well. 

 While millions of people rely on RPM consumer 

brands, few realize that their homes are enhanced 

by RPM industrial brands, too. All the major window 

manufacturers, for example, use our Kop-Coat coatings 

to protect residential wood window systems against decay. 

Contractors and builders choose Tremco Barrier Solutions 

for waterproofi ng new residential basements, while many 

high-end furniture makers entrust their designs to our 

Wood Finishes Group. 

at home



Kitchen

DAP’s Phenoseal adhesive 

caulk is ideal for kitchen sinks, 

countertops and backsplashes. 

Wood cabinetry manufacturers 

utilize CCI’s wood products, 

while homeowners preserve 

their wood fl oors with 

Varathane products. Rust-

Oleum’s touch-up paints are 

ideal for repairing scratches 

and chips on appliances. 

NatureSeal products help 

fresh-cut fruits and vegetables 

maintain their color, texture 

and fl avor.

Deck

Wolman’s wood care products 

prepare, restore, beautify 

and protect decks, fences, 

sheds and other exterior 

wood structures. TCI’s 

electrostatically applied 

powder coatings are used by 

upscale outdoor furniture 

manufacturers, while Rust-

Oleum’s STOPS RUST paint is 

specially formulated to resist 

moisture and corrosion on such 

outdoor equipment as grills, 

door hardware, railings and 

mailboxes as well as bicycles 

and wagons.

Living Room 

Thibaut’s wallpaper and fabric collections are 

known for their fresh, inspiring colors mixed with 

classic styles. Zinsser’s wide range of wallcovering 

primers and adhesives – as well as tools – make the 

job of hanging wallpaper (or removing it) easier. 

Mohawk’s wood touch-up and repair products 

keep furniture and wood pieces looking their best, 

while Rust-Oleum’s decorative fi nishes add a warm 

luster to décor.



brand trust

We earn the trust of today’s consumers

by maintaining the same high standards 

that homeowners have relied on for 

generations. Today, RPM products are 

known worldwide for their time-saving 

effectiveness, ease of use and uncom-

promising performance. From keeping 

water out of your basement to restoring 

your hardwood fl oors, from patching 

a nick on your refrigerator to adding

personalized elegance to your living room, 

we’ve got your household needs covered.

at home

Bathroom

PERMA-WHITE Mold & 

Mildew-Proof Interior Paint 

protects bathrooms against the 

damaging effects of unsightly 

mold and mildew as it brightens 

and beautifi es ceilings, walls, 

trim and related paintable 

interior surfaces. DAP’s tub and 

tile caulk provides a durable, 

watertight seal that can be 

painted and is mildew resistant.

Garage

Rust-Oleum’s EPOXY SHIELD adds an 

aesthetically pleasing protective barrier for 

garage fl oors, while Bondo’s Truck Guard 

Ultra bedliner provides similar protection for 

pickups. Euclid Chemical products enhance the 

performance and life expectancy of concrete 

driveways.

Basement/Exterior

Tremco’s spray-applied waterproofi ng membranes and systems 

keep basements in new residential construction dry, while 

Zinsser’s WATERTITE paint keeps water, mold and mildew out 

of older basements. Zinsser also protects and beautifi es wood 

siding through its wide range of exterior primers and specialty 

paints. Kop-Coat products protect wood frame windows from 

water damage, while DAP products seal windows and doors.
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profi table growth strategy.profi table growth strategy. The Golden Gate Bridge. The Sydney Opera House. 

The Tokyo International Forum. Sleeping Beauty’s Castle 

at Disneyland. The Queen Mary II. The Eiffel Tower. 

The Statue of Liberty. These internationally recognized 

icons – and thousands of other prominent structures 

around the world – depend on RPM’s industrial brands 

to shield their critical infrastructures from the harshest 

conditions imaginable.

 It’s not uncommon to fi nd RPM consumer products 

such as DAP sealants, Rust-Oleum coatings and Zinsser 

primers in the industrial setting as well. From the roof 

to the fl oor to the concrete admixtures in between, our 

products meet or exceed the specifications of demanding 

commercial and industrial customers, making RPM 

brands the trusted choice of fi rms engaged in new 

construction, rehab projects, ongoing maintenance and 

a host of other applications. After all, the pros have to 

preserve not only their work, but their good names, too.

on the job
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Lobby

Stonhard’s revolutionary new flooring system, 

Stonblend RTZ, takes the ergonomic and acoustic 

qualities of vinyl and rubber and combines them 

with the adhesion, durability and wear properties 

of seamless resinous flooring and epoxy terrazzo. 

Rust-Oleum’s Sierra Performance Coatings line sets 

the new standard for industrial coatings, blending 

superb performance with an assurance of safety 

for workers and the environment.

Building Structure

Carboline’s high-performance corrosion control 

coatings protect and preserve structural steel, while 

Tremco systems and services care for the entire 

building envelope, including construction sealants 

and adhesives, caulks, glazings, waterproofing 

systems, concrete admixtures and sealers, grouts 

and mortars, and firestopping systems.

Manufacturing Floor

Stonhard’s seamless flooring system 

offers outstanding performance in 

heavy-duty environments. Ecoloc’s 

interlocking flooring tiles supply 

comfort for workers while protecting 

against the cold and minimizing trip 

hazards. Fibergrate’s molded fiberglass 

reinforced plastic (FRP) grating offers 

customers a full line of proven products 

that provide resistance to corrosion, slips 

and impact; are lightweight, ergonomic 

and easy to install; and have long, low- 

maintenance life cycles.



 For the most demanding jobs, RPM 

industrial brands have proved depend-

able time and again under extreme 

conditions. They also have to perform 

under stringent standards for safety, 

comfort and product integrity. Our teams 

do whatever it takes to ensure that our 

industrial brands live up to this daily 

test. From the rugged environment of 

an offshore oil platform to the refi ned 

luxury of a four-star hotel, from the 

grandeur of transatlantic crossings 

to the endurance required in space 

shuttle fl ights, RPM brands are on 

the job, providing superior solutions at 

incomparable value. 

brand trust

on the job

Exterior

Architects and owners rely on 

Dryvit for high-performance 

exterior insulation and fi nish 

systems (EIFS) solutions to 

provide timeless appeal and 

enduring value for commercial 

construction. Today, Dryvit’s 

Outsulation System is installed 

in more than 350,000 buildings 

worldwide. Meanwhile, Euclid 

Chemical’s products – including 

admixtures, curing and sealing 

compounds, joint fi llers and 

sealants – and its support 

services have made the brand a 

leader within the concrete and 

masonry construction industry.

Tank Farm/Tanker Truck

Carboline and Plasite technologies have been protecting 

transportation vessels in the truck, rail and marine 

container industries for more than 50 years. Together, 

these brands provide customers with the most complete 

line of interior and exterior coating systems on the 

market – ensuring that products ranging from corn 

syrup to petroleum remain pure, while the vessels that 

carry them remain resistant to corrosion.

Roof

Tremco is North America’s 

premier provider of roofi ng 

materials and services, 

offering customers the most 

comprehensive roofi ng and 

weatherproofi ng solutions in 

the industry.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(In thousands, except per share and percent data)

All financial data based on fiscal years ended May 31 2005 2004 2003

RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS
Net sales2 $2,555,735 $2,307,553 $2,053,482 
Income before income taxes 163,728 217,616 47,853
Net income 105,032 141,886 35,327

PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Return on sales % 4.1 6.1 1.7
Return on stockholders’ equity % 10.4 15.3 4.1

PER SHARE DATA
Basic earnings per share $ 0.90 $ 1.23 $ 0.31
Diluted earnings per share3 0.86 1.16 0.30
Cash dividends per share 0.5900 0.5500 0.5150
Stockholders’ equity per share 8.95 8.42 7.61

BALANCE SHEET HIGHLIGHTS
Stockholders’ equity $1,046,509 $ 975,292 $ 877,008
Retained earnings 500,125 464,026 385,791
Working capital 696,156 517,124 500,444
Total assets 2,656,245 2,350,091 2,243,455
Long-term debt 837,948 718,929 724,846

OTHER DATA
Depreciation and amortization $65,992 $63,277 $58,674
Average shares outstanding 116,899 115,777 115,294

1 Reflects adoption of SFAS No. 142 regarding Goodwill (See Note A to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

2 Reflects the reclassification of cooperative advertising expenses as a component of net sales instead of a selling, general and administrative expense 
(See Note A to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

3 Reflects dilutive effect of EITF 04-8 beginning in fiscal 2003 (See Note D to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Acquisitions made by the Company during the periods presented may impact comparability from year to year (see Note A to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Earnings Before Interest & Taxes for business segments is reconciled to Income Before Income Taxes on page 17, for each of the three years ended May 31, 2005.

SEGMENT CHARTS   INDUSTRIAL
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20021 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

$1,960,738 $1,984,961 $1,943,201 $1,695,209 $1,611,151 $1,346,414 $1,127,873 $1,023,005
154,124 101,487 71,761 159,597 149,556 135,728 119,886 108,492
101,554 62,961 40,992 94,546 87,837 78,315 68,929 62,616

5.2 3.2 2.1 5.6 5.5 5.8 6.1 6.1
13.6 9.8 5.9 14.4 16.6 16.7 17.3 18.8

$ 0.97 $ 0.62 $ 0.38 $ 0.87 $ 0.89 $ 0.81 $ 0.72 $ 0.68
0.97 0.62 0.38 0.86 0.84 0.76 0.69 0.65

0.5000 0.4975 0.4850 0.4645 0.4400 0.4080 0.3776 0.3520
8.22 6.26 6.02 6.83 5.75 5.07 4.68 3.83

$ 858,106 $ 639,710 $ 645,724 $ 742,876 $ 566,337 $ 493,398 $ 445,915 $ 350,469
409,603 360,458 348,102 359,011 314,911 270,465 231,896 199,527
479,041 443,652 408,890 402,870 387,284 478,535 275,722 271,635

2,078,844 2,078,490 2,099,203 1,737,236 1,685,917 1,633,228 1,155,076 965,523
707,921 955,399 959,330 582,109 716,989 784,439 447,654 407,041

$56,859 $81,494 $79,150 $62,135 $57,009 $51,145 $42,562 $37,123
104,418 102,202 107,221 108,731 98,527 97,285 95,208 91,571

SEGMENT CHARTS   CONSUMER
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

We operate a portfolio of businesses that manufacture

and sell a variety of specialty paints, protective coatings and

roofing systems, sealants and adhesives. We manage our

portfolio by organizing our businesses into two operating

segments — industrial and consumer— based on the nature

of business activities; products and services; the structure of

management; and the structure of information as presented

to our Board of Directors. Within each segment, individual

operating companies or groups of companies generally

address common markets, utilize similar technologies, and

can share manufacturing or distribution capabilities. We

evaluate the profit performance of our segments based on

earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”) because interest

expense is essentially related to corporate acquisitions, as

opposed to segment operations.

Industrial segment products are sold throughout North

America and account for most of our sales in Europe, South

America, Asia, South Africa, Australia and the Middle East.

The industrial product line is sold primarily to distributors,

contractors and to end users, such as industrial manufactur-

ing facilities, educational and governmental institutions,

and commercial establishments. Industrial segment products

reach their markets through a combination of direct sales,

sales representative organizations, distributor sales and

sales of licensees and joint ventures.

Consumer segment products are sold throughout

North America to mass merchandisers, home centers, hard-

ware stores, paint stores, automotive supply stores and craft

shops. Consumer segment products are sold to retailers

through a combination of direct sales, sales representative

organizations and distributor sales. 

In addition to two operating segments, there are 

certain business activities, referred to as corporate/other,

that do not constitute an operating segment, including 

corporate headquarters and related administrative expenses,

results of our captive insurance companies, gains or losses

on the sales of certain assets and other expenses not

directly associated with either operating segment. Related

assets consist primarily of investments, prepaid expenses,

deferred pension assets, and headquarters’ property and

equipment. These corporate and other assets and expenses

reconcile operating segment data to total consolidated net

sales, income before income taxes, identifiable assets, 

capital expenditures, and depreciation and amortization.

The following table reflects the results of our operating

segments consistent with our management philosophy, and

represents the information we utilize, in conjunction with

various strategic, operational and other financial perform-

ance criteria, in evaluating the performance of our portfolio

of businesses. For further information pertaining to our 

segments, refer to Note I, “Segment Information,” to our

Consolidated Financial Statements.

MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION and ANALYSIS 

of RESULTS of OPERATIONS
and FINANCIAL CONDITION
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Year Ended May 31 2005 2004 2003

Net Sales
Industrial $1,441,548 $1,272,781 $1,117,877
Consumer 1,114,187 1,034,772 935,605
Corporate/Other

Consolidated $2,555,735 $2,307,553 $2,053,482

Income Before Income Taxes(a)

Industrial Segment
Income Before Income Taxes(a) $ 168,578 $ 140,706 $ 122,568
Interest (Expense), Net 532 192 253

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes (“EBIT”)(b) $ 168,046 $ 140,514 $ 122,315

Consumer Segment
Income Before Income Taxes(a) $ 147,601 $ 142,852 $ 131,100
Interest (Expense), Net 415 104 (284)

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes (“EBIT”)(b) $ 147,186 $ 142,748 $ 131,384

Corporate/Other
(Loss) Before Income Taxes(a) $ (152,451)(c) $ (65,942) $ (205,815)(c)

Interest (Expense), Net (36,325) (29,241) (26,681)

(Loss) Before Interest and Taxes (“EBIT”)(b) $ (116,126) $ (36,701) $ (179,134)

Consolidated
Income Before Income Taxes(a) $ 163,728 $ 217,616 $ 47,853
Interest (Expense), Net (35,378) (28,945) (26,712)

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes (“EBIT”)(b) $ 199,106 $ 246,561 $ 74,565

(a) The presentation includes a reconciliation of Income Before Income Taxes, a measure defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in the
United States, to EBIT.

(b) EBIT is defined as earnings before interest and taxes. We evaluate the profit performance of our segments based on income before income taxes, but also
look to EBIT as a performance evaluation measure because interest expense is essentially related to corporate acquisitions, as opposed to segment opera-
tions. We believe EBIT is useful to investors for this purpose as well, using EBIT as a metric in their investment decisions. EBIT should not be considered an
alternative to, or more meaningful than, operating income as determined in accordance with GAAP, since EBIT omits the impact of interest and taxes in
determining operating performance, which represent items necessary to our continued operations, given our level of indebtedness and ongoing tax 
obligations. Nonetheless, EBIT is a key measure expected by and useful to our fixed income investors, rating agencies and the banking community all of
whom believe, and we concur, that this measure is critical to the capital markets' analysis of our segments' core operating performance. We also evaluate
EBIT because it is clear that movements in EBIT impact our ability to attract financing. Our underwriters and bankers consistently require inclusion of this
measure in offering memoranda in conjunction with any debt underwriting or bank financing. EBIT may not be indicative of our historical operating
results, nor is it meant to be predictive of potential future results.

(c) The asbestos charge, reflected in Corporate/Other, relates primarily to our Bondex International, Inc. subsidiary.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(In thousands)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our consolidated financial statements include the

accounts of RPM International Inc. and its majority-owned

subsidiaries. Preparation of our financial statements

requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect

the reported amounts of our assets and liabilities at the

date of the financial statements and the reported amounts

of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 

We continually evaluate these estimates, including those

related to allowances for doubtful accounts; inventories;

allowances for recoverable taxes; useful lives of property,

plant and equipment; goodwill; environmental and other

contingent liabilities; income tax valuation allowances; 

pension plans; and the fair value of financial instruments.

We base our estimates on historical experience and other

assumptions, which we believe to be reasonable under the

circumstances. These estimates form the basis for making

judgments about the carrying value of our assets and liabili-

ties. Actual results may differ from these estimates under

different assumptions and conditions. 

We have identified the following accounting policies

that are critical to our financial statements.
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Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when realized or realizable,

and when earned. In general, this is when title and risk of

loss passes to the customer. Further, revenues are realizable

when we have persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement,

the product has been shipped or the services have been 

provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or deter-

minable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. We reduce

our revenues for estimated customer returns and allow-

ances, and for certain rebates, sales incentives, and promo-

tions in the same period the related sales are recorded.

Translation of Foreign Currency Financial Statements
and Foreign Currency Transactions

Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. However, the

functional currency of all of our foreign subsidiaries is their

local currency. We translate the amounts included in our

consolidated statements of income from our foreign 

subsidiaries into U.S. dollars at weighted average exchange

rates, which we believe are fairly representative of the

actual exchange rates on the dates of the transactions. 

Our foreign subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities are translated

into U.S. dollars from local currency at the actual exchange

rates as of the end of each reporting date, and we record

the resulting foreign exchange translation adjustments in

our consolidated balance sheets as a component of accumu-

lated other comprehensive income (loss). Translation adjust-

ments will be included in net earnings in the event of a sale

or liquidation of any of our underlying foreign investments,

or in the event that we distribute the accumulated earnings

of consolidated foreign subsidiaries. If we determine that

the functional currency of any of our foreign subsidiaries

should be the U.S. dollar, our financial statements would be

affected. Should this occur, we would adjust our reporting

to appropriately account for such change(s).

As appropriate, we use permanently invested inter-

company loans as a source of capital to reduce exposure to

foreign currency fluctuations at our foreign subsidiaries.

These loans are treated as analogous to equity for account-

ing purposes. Therefore, foreign exchange gains or losses

on these intercompany loans are recorded in other compre-

hensive income (loss). If we were to determine that the

functional currency of any of our subsidiaries should be the

U.S. dollar, we would no longer record foreign exchange

gains or losses on such intercompany loans.

Goodwill

We apply the provisions of Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business Combi-

nations,” which addresses the initial recognition and 

measurement of goodwill and intangible assets acquired in

a business combination. We also apply the provisions of

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”

which requires that goodwill be tested on an annual basis,

or more frequently as impairment indicators arise. We have

elected to perform the required impairment tests, which

involve the use of estimates related to the fair market 

values of the business operations with which goodwill is

associated, at the end of our first quarter. Calculating the

fair market value of the reporting units requires significant

estimates and assumptions by management. We estimate

the fair value of our reporting units by applying third-party

market value indicators to the respective reporting unit’s

annual projected earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-

tion and amortization. In applying this methodology, we

rely on a number of factors, including future business plans,

actual operating results and market data. In the event that

our calculations indicate that goodwill is impaired, a fair

value estimate of each tangible and intangible asset would

be established. This process would require the application

of discounted cash flows expected to be generated by each

asset in addition to independent asset appraisals, as appro-

priate. Cash flow estimates are based on our historical 

experience and our internal business plans, and appropriate

discount rates are applied. Losses, if any, resulting from

goodwill impairment tests would be reflected in operating

income in our income statement.

Other Long-Lived Assets

We assess identifiable non-goodwill intangibles and

other long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or

changes in facts and circumstances indicate the possibility

that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors 

considered important, which might trigger an impairment

evaluation, include the following:

• significant under-performance relative to historical or

projected future operating results;

• significant changes in the manner of our use of the

acquired assets; 

• significant changes in the strategy for our overall 

business; and

• significant negative industry or economic trends.

Measuring a potential impairment of non-goodwill

intangibles and other long-lived assets requires various 

estimates and assumptions, including determining which

cash flows are directly related to the asset being evaluated,

the useful life over which those cash flows will occur, their

amount and the asset’s residual value, if any. If we deter-

mine that the carrying value of these assets may not be
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recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the

above-described indicators, any impairment would be meas-

ured based on projected net cash flows expected from the

asset(s), including eventual disposition. The determination

of impairment loss would be based on the best information

available, including internal discounted cash flows, quoted

market prices when available and independent appraisals as

appropriate to determine fair value. Cash flow estimates

would be based on our historical experience and our inter-

nal business plans, with appropriate discount rates applied.

We have not incurred any impairment loss to date.

Deferred Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is calculated in accor-

dance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which requires

the recognition of deferred income taxes using the liability

method. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of

temporary differences between the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and

the amounts used for income tax purposes and certain

changes in valuation allowances. We provide valuation

allowances against deferred tax assets if, based on available

evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all

of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 

In determining the adequacy of the valuation

allowance, management considers cumulative and antici-

pated amounts of domestic and international earnings or

losses, anticipated amounts of foreign source income, as

well as the anticipated taxable income resulting from the

reversal of future taxable temporary differences. 

We intend to maintain the recorded valuation

allowances until sufficient positive evidence (for example,

cumulative positive foreign earnings or additional foreign

source income) exists to support a reversal of the tax 

valuation allowances. 

Contingencies

We are party to claims and lawsuits arising in the 

normal course of business, including the various asbestos-

related suits discussed herein and in Note H to our Consoli-

dated Financial Statements. Although we cannot precisely

predict the amount of any liability that may ultimately arise

with respect to any of these matters, we record provisions

when we consider the liability probable and reasonably

estimable. The provisions are based on historical experience

and legal advice, are reviewed quarterly and are adjusted

according to developments. Estimating probable losses

requires analysis of multiple forecasted factors that often

depend on judgments about potential actions by third 

parties such as regulators, courts and state and federal 

legislatures. Changes in the amount of the provisions affect

our consolidated statements of income. Due to the inherent

uncertainties in the loss reserve estimation process, we are

currently unable to estimate an additional range of loss in

excess of our accruals. We may incur asbestos costs in addi-

tion to any amounts reserved, which may have a material

adverse effect on our financial condition, results of opera-

tions or cash flows.

Our environmental-related accruals are similarly estab-

lished and/or adjusted as information becomes available

upon which costs can be reasonably estimated. Here again,

actual costs may vary from these estimates because of the

inherent uncertainties involved, including the identification

of new sites and the development of new information about

contamination. Certain sites are still being investigated 

and, therefore, we have been unable to fully evaluate the

ultimate cost for those sites. As a result, reserves have not

been taken for certain of these sites and costs may ultimately

exceed existing reserves for other sites. We have received

indemnities for potential environmental issues from pur-

chasers of certain of our properties and businesses and from

sellers of properties or businesses we have acquired. We

have also purchased insurance to cover potential environ-

mental liabilities at certain sites. If the indemnifying or

insuring party fails to, or becomes unable to, fulfill its 

obligations under those agreements or policies, we may

incur environmental costs in addition to any amounts

reserved, which may have a material adverse effect on our

financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal 2005 Compared with Fiscal 2004

Net Sales Net sales for the year ended May 31, 2005

of $2.556 billion increased 10.8 percent, or $248.2 million,

over last year’s net sales of $2.308 billion. Contributing to

this improvement over last year was the continued growth

in organic sales of $187.6 million, or 8.1 percent (1.9 percent

pricing), plus eight small acquisitions in their first year with

us, net of one small divestiture, supplying another 1.3 per-

cent growth in sales, or $28.4 million. Favorable foreign

exchange rates, relating primarily to the euro ($16.3 mil-

lion) and the Canadian dollar ($12.0 million), provided the

remaining 1.4 percent, or $32.2 million, of the growth in

sales over last year.

Industrial segment net sales grew 13.3 percent to

$1.442 billion from last year’s $1.273 billion, comprising 

56.0 percent of the current year’s consolidated net sales.

This segment’s net sales growth comes primarily from
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organic sales growth of 9.4 percent (1.3 percent pricing),

another 1.9 percent from favorable foreign exchange 

differences, and six small acquisitions, net of the one small

divestiture, added the remaining 2.0 percent of growth to

industrial sales. There were notable organic sales improve-

ments among powder coatings, corrosion control coatings,

roofing, including services, and in construction sealants,

admixtures and exterior insulating finishes, with much of

this latter growth related to increased U.S. commercial 

construction activity. The demand for most of our industrial

product lines has increased as the economy in general, and

the industrial sector in particular, have improved. We 

continue to secure new business and grow market share

among our industrial segment operations.

Consumer segment net sales grew 7.7 percent to

$1.114 billion from last year’s $1.035 billion, comprising 

44.0 percent of consolidated net sales. Organic sales growth

added 6.6 percent (2.6 percent pricing) to the consumer seg-

ment sales total, in addition to 0.8 percent from favorable

foreign exchange differences. Two small bolt-on product

line acquisitions provided the remaining 0.3 percent of sales

growth. There were notable organic sales improvements

among wood care products, primer-sealers, caulks and

sealants and small-project paints and coatings. This strong

organic growth is the result of fairly steady retail demand

by the consumer throughout 2005, coupled with continuous

product development among our businesses. 

Gross Profit Margin Consolidated gross profit margin

of 43.3 percent of net sales for 2005 declined from 44.7 per-

cent a year ago. Continued higher costs of raw materials,

particularly petroleum-based, impacted this margin by

approximately 260 basis points (“bps”)(2.6%), and, com-

bined with a lower-margin mix of sales among product lines

and services, more than offset margin benefits generated

primarily from the leverage of higher organic sales volume

and price increases (170 bps) implemented by our businesses.

Industrial segment gross profit margin for 2005

declined to 44.8 percent of net sales from 45.7 percent last

year. The principal factors contributing to the decline in

gross margins in this segment were continued higher raw

material costs, which impacted margins by approximately

170 bps, partly offset by price increases of approximately

120 bps, and a lower-margin mix of sales.

Consumer segment gross profit margin for the year

declined to 41.3 percent of net sales from 43.4 percent last

year. There was approximately 370 bps of negative margin

impact from higher raw material and packaging costs in this

segment, plus certain changes in the mix of sales this year

which exceeded the 240 bps benefit from price increases

implemented during 2005 plus margin leverage from the

higher organic sales volume. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

(“SG&A”) Consolidated SG&A expense levels improved 150

bps to 32.5 percent of net sales compared with 34.0 percent

a year ago. The leverage of organic sales growth over last

year was the primary contributing factor to the improve-

ment in this category. The higher cost of fuel, which con-

tributed to higher distribution costs over last year (30 bps),

this year’s adoption of SFAS No. 123 (refer to Notes A 

and D), in combination with the expensing of initial grants

under the 2004 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan (the

“Omnibus Plan”)(20 bps), increased compensation and other

growth-related investments partially offset these gains.

Industrial segment SG&A improved by 150 bps to 33.2

percent of net sales in 2005 from 34.7 percent a year ago.

The main contributors to SG&A improvement were the lever-

age of organic sales growth along with cost containment and

other savings programs. These improvements were partially

offset by higher distribution costs (30 bps), increased com-

pensation (50 bps) and other growth-related investments. 

Consumer segment SG&A improved by 160 bps to 28.1

percent of net sales for the year compared with 29.7 percent

a year ago. This segment’s organic growth in sales over last

year also provided leverage benefits along with continued

cost containment and other savings programs. Partly offset-

ting these benefits were increased compensation and other

growth-related investments made in this segment, in 

addition to increased fuel-related distribution costs (30 bps).

Corporate/Other costs increased during this year to

$38.1 million from $36.7 million last year. Generally lower

insurance costs (approximately $3.1 million) and certain

other expense reductions partly offset higher costs related

to the combination of this year’s adoption of SFAS No. 123

and the expensing of initial grants under the Omnibus Plan,

approximating $3.8 million, as well as higher corporate gov-

ernance costs, principally start-up costs related to Sarbanes-

Oxley Section 404 compliance, approximating $2.0 million.

License fee and joint venture income of $0.6 million for

the year ended May 31, 2005 and $0.7 million for the year

ended May 31, 2004, is reflected as a reduction of consoli-

dated SG&A expenses.

We recorded total net periodic pension expense of

$14.5 million and $15.9 million for the years ended May 31,

2005 and 2004, respectively. Additionally, we recorded net

periodic postretirement expense of $1.5 million and $1.2
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million for the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004, respec-

tively. The decreased pension expense of $1.4 million was

largely attributable to a net improvement in the expected

return on plan assets, approximating $3.3 million, combined

with decreased net actuarial losses recognized, which posi-

tively impacted year-over-year expense by approximately

$0.9 million. Offsetting those benefits were increased pen-

sion service and interest cost totaling approximately $2.8

million. A change of 0.25% in the discount rate or expected

return on plan assets assumptions would result in $0.9 mil-

lion and $0.4 million higher pension expense, respectively.

The assumptions and estimates used to determine the 

discount rate and expected return on plan assets are more

fully described in Note F, “Pension Plans,” and Note G,

“Postretirement Health Care Benefits,” to our Consolidated

Financial Statements. We expect that pension expense will

fluctuate on a year-to-year basis depending upon the per-

formance of plan assets, but such changes are not expected

to be material as a percent of income before income taxes. 

Asbestos Charges Certain of our wholly owned 

subsidiaries, principally Bondex International, Inc. (Bondex),

along with many other U.S. companies, are and have been

involved in a large number of asbestos-related suits filed

primarily in state courts during the past two decades with a

vast majority of current claims pending in five states – 

Illinois, Ohio, Mississippi, Texas and Florida. These suits 

principally allege personal injury resulting from exposure 

to asbestos-containing products previously manufactured 

by the Company’s subsidiaries. The alleged claims relate 

primarily to products that Bondex or its predecessor sold

through 1977. In many cases, plaintiffs are unable to

demonstrate that they have suffered any compensable loss

as a result of such exposure or that injuries incurred

resulted from exposure to Bondex products.

The rate at which plaintiffs filed asbestos-related suits

against the Company’s subsidiaries, particularly Bondex, has

increased since the fourth fiscal quarter of 2002, influenced

by the bankruptcy filings of numerous other defendants in

asbestos-related litigation. Based on the significant increase

in asbestos claims activity, which in many cases dispropor-

tionately increased Bondex’s exposure in joint and several

liability law states, our third-party insurance was depleted

within the first fiscal quarter of 2004, as previously reported.

Our third-party insurers historically had been responsible,

under various cost-sharing arrangements, for the payment

of approximately 90% of the indemnity and defense costs

associated with our asbestos litigation. Prior to this sudden

precipitous increase in loss rates, the combination of book

loss reserves and insurance coverage was expected to 

adequately cover asbestos claims for the foreseeable future.

We have reserved our rights with respect to various of our

third-party insurers’ claims of exhaustion, and in late 

calendar 2002 commenced reviewing our known insurance

policies to determine whether other insurance limits may be

available to cover our asbestos liabilities. 

As a result of this examination and as previously 

disclosed, certain of our subsidiaries filed a complaint for

declaratory judgment, breach of contract and bad faith

against various third-party insurers, challenging their asser-

tion that their policies covering asbestos-related claims have

been exhausted. Since the July 3, 2003 filing in Ohio, this

action was combined with a related case and, pursuant to a

case management order, the parties are to complete fact dis-

covery by March 31, 2006 and dispositive motions and expert

discovery by September 1, 2006. A trial date of January 29,

2007 has been set; however, it is possible that this and other

dates may be modified as the coverage case progresses.

We are unable at the present time to predict the timing

or ultimate outcome of this insurance coverage litigation.

Consequently, we are unable to predict whether, or to what

extent, any additional insurance may be available to cover a

portion of our subsidiaries’ asbestos liabilities. We have not

included any potential benefits from this litigation either in

our financial statements or in calculating our asbestos

reserve. Our wholly-owned captive insurance companies

have not provided any insurance or re-insurance coverage

for any of our subsidiaries’ asbestos-related claims. 

During 2003 and early fiscal 2004, new state liability

laws were enacted in three states (Mississippi, Ohio and

Texas) where at that time more than 80% of the claims

against Bondex were pending. Effective dates for the last

two of the law changes were April 8, 2003 and July 1, 2003.

The changes generally provided for liability to be deter-

mined on a “proportional cause” basis, thereby limiting

Bondex’s responsibility to only its share of the alleged

asbestos exposure. During the third and fourth fiscal quar-

ters of 2004, two of the three previously mentioned states

that adopted “proportional cause” liability in 2003 passed

additional legislation impacting medical criteria and product

identification in asbestos-related litigation. In 2005, addi-

tional states, including Florida and Georgia have adopted

various medical criteria-based asbestos legislation. While

there have been some changes in the type of claims filed in 

certain of these states, the ultimate influence these law

changes may have on future claims activity and settlement
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values is not known at this time. Claims in Mississippi, Ohio

and Texas at the fiscal year ended May 31, 2005, coupled

with the non-malignancy filings in Florida, currently com-

prise approximately 80% of the aggregate claims filed

against Bondex.

At the end of 2002 and through the third fiscal quarter

of 2003, Bondex had concluded it was not possible to 

estimate the cost of disposing all of the asbestos-related

claims that might be filed against Bondex in the future due

to a number of reasons, including its lack of sufficient com-

parable loss history from which to assess either the number

or value of any future asbestos-related claims. As previously

disclosed, during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2003, Bondex

retained a consulting firm to assist in analyzing its loss 

history data, to evaluate whether it would be possible to

estimate the cost of disposing pending claims in light of

both past and recent loss history, and to assist in determin-

ing whether future asbestos-related claims reasonably

expected to be filed against Bondex were measurable,

given recent changes in various state laws and the prospect

of potential federal asbestos-related legislation.

Bondex provided the consultants with all relevant data

regarding asbestos-related claims filed against Bondex

through May 31, 2003. Management, with the consultants’

input, concluded that it was not possible to currently 

estimate the full range of the cost of resolving all future

asbestos-related claims against Bondex. Estimating the

future cost of asbestos-related contingent liabilities was 

and continues to be subject to many uncertainties, including

(i) the ultimate number of claims filed; (ii) the cost of 

resolving both current known and future unknown claims;

(iii) the amount of insurance, if any, available to cover such

claims, including the outcome of coverage litigation against

the subsidiaries’ third party insurers; (iv) future earnings

and cash flow of the Company’s subsidiaries; (v) the impact

of bankruptcies of other companies whose share of liability

may be imposed on the Company’s subsidiaries under 

certain state liability laws; (vi) the unpredictable aspects of

the litigation process including a changing trial docket and

the jurisdictions in which trials are scheduled; (vii) the out-

come of any such trials including judgments or jury verdicts,

as a result of our more aggressive defense posture which

includes taking selective cases to verdict; (viii) the lack of

specific information in many cases concerning exposure to

the subsidiaries’ products and the claimants’ diseases; 

(ix) potential changes in applicable federal and/or state law;

and (x) the potential impact of various proposed structured

settlement transactions or subsidiary bankruptcies by other

companies, some of which are the subject of federal appel-

late court review, the outcome of which could materially

affect any future asbestos-related liability estimates. In addi-

tion, during both calendar years 2003 and 2005, passage by

the United States Senate Judiciary Committee of proposed

legislation to establish a trust fund to pay future asbestos-

related claims and remove such cases from federal and state

courts with industry and insurers funding the trust continues

to be a significant variable that has made it increasingly 

difficult to predict with certainty the full exposure of

future, unknown asbestos-related claims. The ongoing

prospect of federal trust fund legislation is expected to 

continue to be a significant variable in assessing our future

asbestos-related liabilities. 

Based on the foregoing considerations, at May 31,

2003, we concluded that we could not fully estimate the 

liability that would result from all future asbestos claims.

We established a reserve for those pending cases that had

progressed to a stage where the cost to dispose of these

cases could, at the time, reasonably be estimated, as well as

a $51.2 million provision for future unasserted claims that

were estimable at May 31, 2003. The estimation of even

pending cases was and is always difficult due to the dynamic

nature of asbestos litigation including the variables dis-

cussed above. The estimated range of potential loss covering

measurable known asbestos claims and the provision for

future claims that were estimable at May 31, 2003 was

$140.0 million to $145.0 million. Accordingly, we established

a reserve equal to the lower end of this range of potential

loss by taking an asbestos charge to fiscal 2003 operations

of $140.0 million. At the time of the reserve, we believed

that this asbestos reserve would be sufficient to cover

asbestos-related cash flow requirements over the estimated

three-year life of the reserve. The $140.0 million charge also

included $15.0 million in total projected defense costs over

the estimated three-year life of the reserve. By comparison,

Bondex’s share of costs (net of then-available third-party

insurance) for asbestos-related product liability was $6.7 mil-

lion and $2.8 million for the years ended May 31, 2003 and

2002, respectively. 

Since May 31, 2003, we have reviewed and evaluated

on a quarterly basis the adequacy of our asbestos reserve.

The range of loss calculation for the $140.0 million reserve

was based on an extensive analysis of the most critical 

factors that influence our asbestos-related costs including:

(i) the gross number of open malignancy claims (principally

mesothelioma claims) as these claims have the most signifi-

cant impact on our asbestos settlement costs; (ii) historical
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and current settlement costs and dismissal rates by various

categories; (iii) analysis of the jurisdiction and governing

law of the states in which these claims are pending; and 

(iv) outside defense counsel’s opinions and recommendations

with respect to the merits of such claims. Although the

number of open malignancy claims has remained relatively

constant, subject to some quarterly variability, since May 31,

2003 continuing through the year ended May 31, 2005, our

average settlement costs for malignancy claims have declined

and dismissal rates have increased. Several defense verdicts

during the second half of fiscal 2004 further contributed to

lower settlement values and higher dismissal rates. Our

defense costs, however, have increased significantly as a

result of our more aggressive defense strategy, which now

includes taking selective cases to verdict.

Based on our review of our asbestos reserve for the

second quarter ended November 30, 2004, we concluded

that the $56.0 million balance of the $140.0 million reserve

would not likely be sufficient to cover our asbestos-related

cash flow requirements for the remainder of the full three-

year period originally contemplated by the reserve. Accord-

ingly, we concluded that an increase in our existing reserve

was appropriate and took an asbestos reserve adjustment

of $47.0 million for the quarter ended November 30, 2004,

which we believed would be sufficient to cover any 

incremental cash flow requirements through fiscal 2006 

not covered by the $140.0 million reserve, as well as the

additional cash flow requirements for the balance of our

then-pending known claims and anticipated higher defense

costs. Approximately $32.0 million of the $47.0 million

reserve adjustment was allocated to anticipated higher

future defense costs. During the third fiscal quarter ended

February 28, 2005, based on a review of our then-pending

known claims, coupled with a review of our defense costs,

we concluded that an increase in our existing reserve was

again appropriate. An asbestos reserve adjustment of 

$15.0 million was taken for the quarter ended February 28,

2005. With cash outlays of $21.9 million in the third quarter,

our asbestos reserves aggregated $96.3 million at February

28, 2005, which we believed would be sufficient to cover the

cash flow requirements for the balance of our then pending

known claims and defense costs. Our $15.0 million reserve

increase assumed that approximately $6.1 million will be 

allocated to higher future defense costs, which we expect 

to continue. 

During the fourth quarter ended May 31, 2005, an

additional $16.0 million was added to the asbestos reserve

based on management’s quarterly review of pending claims

and defense costs. With cash outlays of $11.1 million during

the fourth quarter, our asbestos reserves totaled $101.2 mil-

lion at May 31, 2005, which we believe will be sufficient to

cover the cash flow requirements for the balance of our

pending known claims, including defense costs. Of the

$16.0 million reserve increase, approximately $15.8 million

is expected to be allocated to anticipated higher future

defense costs, which we expect to continue. As previously

disclosed, as we review our asbestos reserve each quarter,

we will make appropriate adjustments to the reserve based

on our most recent experience to ensure that it is sufficient

to cover the anticipated settlement and defense costs 

associated with our then-pending, known claims. We will

continue to evaluate the appropriateness of estimating the

value of any potential future unknown asbestos claims and

at such time as we are able to quantify such future exposure,

we will establish a reserve for such unknown future claims.

We recognize that future facts, events and legislation,

both state and/or federal, may alter our estimates of both

pending and future claims. We cannot estimate possible 

liabilities in excess of those accrued because we cannot 

predict the number of additional claims that may be filed in

the future, the grounds for such claims, the potential settle-

ment values associated with any such future claims, the 

ultimate resolution of such claims, the full impact of the

state law changes enumerated above or the effect of pend-

ing federal trust fund legislation on future asbestos claims.

Subject to the foregoing variables, including the timing and

impact of such variables and the increase in the asbestos

reserve, we believe that our asbestos reserves are sufficient

to cover asbestos-related cash flow requirements for the

current inventory of our known claims. It is, however, 

reasonably possible that our actual costs for claims could

differ from current estimates but, based upon information

presently available, such costs are not expected to have a

material effect on our competitive or financial position or

our ongoing operations. As previously disclosed, however,

our existing reserve will not presently cover the costs of

future unknown claims and, therefore, additional reserves

will be required in future periods for any such future claims.

Any such future reserve increases, when taken, could have a

material impact on our results in such period.

The Company will continue to evaluate its asbestos-

related loss exposure each quarter and review the adequacy

of its reserve and the related cash flow implications in light

of our most recent actual claims experience, the impact of

state law changes and the evolving nature of federal leg-

islative efforts to address asbestos litigation. We will con-
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tinue to explore all feasible alternatives available to resolve

our asbestos-related exposure in a manner consistent with

the best interests of our stockholders.

Net Interest Expense Net interest expense was 

$6.4 million higher this year than a year ago. Interest rates

overall averaged 4.9 percent during the year, compared

with 4.2 percent a year ago, accounting for $6.8 million of

the interest cost increase. Additional debt outstanding 

during the past year cost approximately $1.6 million more

during the year. These increases are primarily due to our

debt refinancings (refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources”

section) during the past 18 months, including the $200 mil-

lion 6.25% Senior Notes issued in December 2003 and the

$200 million 4.45% Senior Unsecured Notes issued in 

September 2004. Higher average net borrowings this year

of approximately $24.0 million, associated with recent

acquisitions, added $0.8 million of interest cost, while

investment income performance improved year-over-year,

providing $2.8 million of additional income.  

Income Before Income Taxes (“IBT”) Consolidated

IBT for this year of $163.7 million compares with $217.6 mil-

lion last year, with $78.0 million of this decline resulting

from the asbestos charges taken during this fiscal year.

Excluding the charges, IBT for this year would have been 

an adjusted $241.7 million, or ahead by $24.1 million, or

11.1 percent, from last year’s $217.6 million, resulting in

margins at 9.5 and 9.4 percent of sales for 2005 and 2004,

respectively. This reflects the combined positive impacts

from the higher organic sales volume, cost controls, produc-

tivity improvements and pricing initiatives, offsetting the

approximate 260 bps impact of higher material costs, plus

higher fuel-related distribution costs, the continuation of

growth-related investments this year in both operating 

segments and higher interest expense.

Industrial segment IBT grew by $27.9 million, or 19.8

percent, to $168.6 million, or 11.7 percent of sales, from last

year’s $140.7 million, or 11.1 percent of sales, mainly from

the higher organic sales volume. Consumer segment IBT

grew by $4.7 million, or 3.3 percent, to $147.6 million, or

13.2 percent of sales, from last year’s $142.9 million, or 13.8

percent of sales, with the margin decline mainly from

higher material costs more than offsetting pricing increases

and organic sales growth leverage in this segment. Com-

bined, operating IBT grew to $316.2 million, or 12.4 percent

of sales, ahead $32.6 million, or 11.5 percent, over 2004’s

$283.6 million, or 12.3% of sales.

For a reconciliation of IBT to earnings before interest

and taxes, see the Segment Information table located on

page 17 of this Annual Report.

Income Tax Rate The effective income tax rate was

35.8% for 2005 compared to an effective income tax rate 

of 34.8% for 2004. The effective income tax rate for 2005

reflects the impact of the $78 million asbestos liability

charges taken during the year. Excluding the asbestos

charges, the adjusted effective income tax rate for 2005

would have been 36.1%. This increase in the adjusted 

effective income tax rate, excluding the asbestos charges, is

principally due to an increase in tax valuation allowances

recorded in 2005, this year’s reduction in the extraterritorial

income exclusion benefit, changes in the jurisdictional mix

of income and the impact of our foreign operations.   

As of May 31, 2005, we have determined, based on the

available evidence, that it is uncertain whether we will be

able to recognize certain deferred tax assets. Therefore, in

accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income

Taxes,” we intend to maintain the tax valuation allowances

recorded at May 31, 2005 for certain deferred tax assets until

sufficient positive evidence exists to support the reversal of

the tax valuation allowances, such as cumulative positive

foreign earnings or additional foreign source income. 

The valuation allowances relate to U.S. federal foreign

tax credit carryforwards, certain foreign net operating

losses and net foreign deferred tax assets recorded in 

purchase accounting. The most significant portion of the

valuation allowance is associated with deferred tax assets

recorded in purchase accounting. Any reversal of the 

valuation allowance that was recorded in purchase account-

ing would reduce goodwill. A reduction of the valuation

allowance of $0.5 million was accordingly allocated to

goodwill during 2005.

Net Income Net income for this year of $105.0 million

compares with last year’s $141.9 million, reflecting the $49.5

million after-tax cost of the asbestos liability charges taken

during this fiscal year. Excluding the charges, this year’s

adjusted net income would have been $154.5 million, ahead

$12.6 million, or 8.9 percent, from last year. The margin on

sales would have been an adjusted 6.0 and 6.1 percent of

sales for 2005 and 2004, respectively, despite the net impact

from higher material costs. Similarly, diluted earnings per

common share would have increased to an adjusted $1.25,

or by 7.8 percent, from $1.16 a year ago. As a result of our

adoption of EITF 04-8, as outlined in Notes A and D, diluted

earnings per share for the years ended May 31, 2005, 2004

and 2003 have been restated to include the 8,034,355

shares issuable upon conversion of our contingently 

convertible debt.  
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FISCAL 2004 COMPARED WITH FISCAL 2003

Net Sales Net sales for the year ended May 31, 2004

of $2.308 billion increased 12.4%, or approximately $254

million, over 2003 net sales of $2.053 billion. This growth

was attributed primarily to a solid increase in organic sales

of 6.6%, or $135 million, plus eleven acquisitions, which

contributed 3.4%, or $69 million, to sales growth. Favorable

foreign exchange rates provided the additional 2.4%, or

$50 million, of increased sales over 2003, the majority of

which related to the Canadian dollar for $21 million and

the euro for $23 million.

Industrial segment net sales for 2004 amounted to

55.0% of consolidated net sales, growing 13.9%, or $155

million, to $1.273 billion from $1.118 billion in 2003. This

segment’s net sales growth came from organic sales growth

of 5.7%, or $63 million; another 3.1%, or $35 million, from

net favorable foreign exchange differences; and seven

product line acquisitions, which added the remaining 

$57 million, or 5.1%, to industrial sales over 2003. 

Consumer segment net sales amounted to 45.0% of

consolidated net sales, growing 10.6%, or $99 million, to

$1.035 billion from $936 million in 2003. Growth in organic

sales amounted to 7.7%, or $72 million, while another

1.6%, or $14 million, of sales growth came from favorable

foreign exchange differences. Also contributing to growth

in this segment year over year was the addition of four

acquisitions, which added the remaining 1.3%, or $13 mil-

lion, of sales growth.

Gross Profit Margin Consolidated gross profit margin

of 44.7% of sales for 2004 compares with 44.8% for 2003.

This slight decline in margin was caused by higher raw

material and packaging costs, which negatively impacted

2004 gross margin by 0.8% of sales, or 80 bps. Adding

approximately 70 bps to the gross margin was the combi-

nation of certain procurement benefits from the weaker

dollar, mainly against the Canadian dollar, and productivity

gains. We also realized certain supplier rebates and gener-

ally higher margins from acquisitions, which offset lower-

margin roofing services sales. 

The industrial segment gross profit margin held steady

at 45.7% of sales in both years, despite higher raw material

and packaging costs, which negatively impacted 2004 gross

margin by 30 bps. The procurement benefits from the

weaker dollar, generally higher margins from acquisitions

and productivity gains, which added 80 bps, more than 

offset the impact of lower-margin roofing services sales.

The consumer segment gross profit margin declined

slightly, to 43.4% of net sales in 2004 from 43.7% in 2003.

Higher raw material and packaging costs negatively influ-

enced 2004 gross margins by 140 bps. Cost benefits from

productivity gains, supplier rebates and procurement bene-

fits from the weaker dollar combined to nearly offset raw

material and packaging cost issues.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

(“SG&A”) Consolidated SG&A expense levels for 2004

improved to 34.0% of net sales from 34.3% in 2003. Primary

additions to the SG&A percentage year over year were 

marketing and related investments to support continued

growth, including 2004’s establishment of our European

development office; higher pension costs (refer to Note F);

and higher insurance, legal and other costs related to 

corporate governance. The primary reductions to the SG&A

percentage were the benefits of lower cost-structure acqui-

sitions and our fast-growing roofing services sales, along

with the leverage from the growth in organic sales against

fixed costs. These combined reductions reduced the 2004

SG&A percentage from 2003 by approximately 140 bps. 

Industrial segment SG&A at 34.7% of net sales during

2004 compares with 34.8% in 2003. This reduction in 

percentage of sales reflected growth in roofing services sales

that require much lower SG&A support. Excluding those

sales, SG&A expenses would have been 36.9% and 36.3% of

net sales in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Primary additions

to the SG&A percentage year over year were higher legal

costs principally associated with Dryvit EIFS (refer to Note H),

marketing and related investments to support continued

growth, and higher pension costs, which combined to add

120 bps to cost levels. The offset came from leverage from

organic sales growth against fixed costs in this category.

Consumer segment SG&A expense at 29.7% of net

sales compares to 29.6% in 2003. Primary additions to the

SG&A percentage year over year were marketing and

related investments to support continued growth and

higher pension and legal costs totaling just over 100 bps.

These increases were essentially neutralized by volume

leverage from organic sales growth against the fixed cost

portion of SG&A.

Corporate/Other costs decreased in 2004 to $36.7 mil-

lion from $39.1 million in 2003. Product liability costs of

$5.7 million were accrued for in 2003, associated with our

asbestos exposure, versus none in 2004, as a result of the

asbestos charge taken in 2003, estimated to cover approxi-

mately three years’ worth of related costs at that time 

(refer to Note H). Offsetting this expense reduction were

higher insurance and other costs, totaling $3.9 million,

related primarily to corporate governance issues affecting

essentially all U.S. publicly held companies, including 

Sarbanes-Oxley compliance.
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We recorded total net periodic pension cost of $15.9

million and $9.9 million for the years ended May 31, 2004

and 2003, respectively. Additionally, net periodic postretire-

ment health care benefits for 2004 and 2003 amounted to

$1.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively. The $6.0 million

increase in net periodic pension cost was largely attributable

to increased net actuarial losses recognized, which nega-

tively impacted year over year expense by approximately

$2.5 million. The remaining difference relates primarily to

increased pension service and interest cost for $1.5 million

and $1.9 million, respectively.  A change of 0.25% in the 

discount rate or expected return on plan assets assumption

would have resulted in $0.9 million and $0.4 million higher

pension expense, respectively.  The assumptions and esti-

mates used to determine the discount rate and expected

return on plan assets are more fully described in Note F,

“Pension Plans,” and Note G, “Postretirement Health Care

Benefits,” to our Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Asbestos Charge As described above and in Note H

to the Consolidated Financial Statements, certain of our

wholly owned subsidiaries, principally Bondex, along with

many other U.S. companies, are and have been involved in

asbestos-related suits filed primarily in state courts during

the past two decades. During the fiscal year ended May 31,

2003, we recorded an asbestos charge of $140.0 million for

measurable and known claims, which included a $51.2 mil-

lion provision for future claims estimable as of May 31, 2003.

We believed then that this reserve would be sufficient to

cover our asbestos-related cash flow requirements over the

estimated three-year life of the reserve. The $140.0 million

charge also included $15.0 million in total projected defense

costs over the estimated three-year life of the reserve. 

Additionally, Bondex’s share of costs (net of then-avail-

able third-party insurance) for asbestos-related product 

liability claims was $6.7 million for the year ended May 31,

2003. In fiscal 2004, Bondex’s asbestos-related cash pay-

ments, net of insurance contributions, amounted to $54.0

million and were charged against the balance sheet reserve

established in 2003. 

Net Interest Expense Net interest expense increased

by $2.2 million in 2004. Debt refinancings effectively raised

our interest rates year over year, averaging 4.2% in 2004

compared with 3.8% in 2003, costing an additional $2.8 mil-

lion in interest expense in 2004. Interest costs associated with

financing acquisitions added $1.6 million of interest expense

in 2004. Net interest expense was reduced by greater invest-

ment income, of approximately $0.9 million during 2004,

while debt repayments, averaging approximately $34 mil-

lion during the year, saved $1.3 million in interest cost.

Since our issuances of 2.75% Senior Convertible Notes

in May 2003 and 6.25% Senior Notes in December 2003

(refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section), the 

variable portion of our total debt structure was down to

approximately 20-25% at the end of 2004.

Income Before Income Taxes (“IBT”) Consolidated

IBT in 2004 of $217.6 million compared with $47.9 million

during fiscal 2003, with $140.0 million of this difference rep-

resenting the asbestos liability charge taken in 2003. Exclud-

ing the charge, 2004 IBT would have been ahead of 2003

proforma IBT of $187.9 million by $29.7 million, or 15.8%. 

Industrial segment IBT grew $18.1 million, or 14.8%,

on 13.9% sales growth, to 11.1% of net sales in 2004 com-

pared with 11.0% of sales during fiscal 2003. Consumer 

segment IBT grew $11.8 million, or 9.0%, on 10.6% sales

growth to 13.8% of net sales in 2004 compared with 14.0%

of net sales during fiscal 2003. This combined operating IBT

improvement totaling $29.9 million, an 11.8% increase on

12.4% sales growth, was generally the result of the growth

in sales volume, including accretive acquisitions, in addition

to productivity gains, offset by the 80 bps impact of higher

raw material and packaging costs during 2004. 

For a reconciliation of IBT to earnings before interest

and taxes see the segment information table located on

page 17 of this Annual Report.

Income Tax Rate The effective income tax rate was

34.8% for 2004 compared to an effective income tax rate of

26.2% for 2003. The effective income tax rate for 2003 reflects

the impact of the $140 million asbestos liability charge.

Excluding the asbestos charge, the adjusted effective tax rate

for 2003 would have been 34.6%. This increase in the effec-

tive tax rate, excluding the asbestos charge, was principally

due to slight changes in the 2004 jurisdictional mix of income.

Net Income Net income of $141.9 million for 2004

increased $106.6 million over 2003 net income of $35.3 mil-

lion, and 2004 diluted earnings per common share of $1.16

increased $0.86 per share compared with 2003 of $0.30 per

share. Excluding the 2003 asbestos charge for comparability,

2004 net income grew $19.1 million, or 15.5%, from 2003

adjusted net income of $122.8 million, diluted earnings per

common share increased by $0.10 per share, or 9.4%, to

$1.16 from an adjusted $1.06 in 2003, and margin on sales

of 6.1% in 2004 improved from an adjusted 6.0% in 2003.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Operating Activities

Operating activities generated positive cash flow of

$157.4 million during fiscal 2005 compared with $154.0 

million generated during 2004, a net increase of 2.2% or
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$3.4 million. Factoring out the after-tax asbestos-related

cash payments of $42.8 and $33.7 million, respectively,

operating activities generated positive cash flow of $200.2

million in fiscal 2005 compared with $187.7 million during

the prior year, up $12.5 million or 6.7%. During fiscal 2005

net income was affected by $78.0 million ($49.5 million

after tax) in charges for asbestos-related liabilities, which

had no effect on cash flow. Fiscal 2005 adjusted net income

of $154.5 million, excluding the asbestos charges, represents

a $12.6 million increase over 2004 net income of $141.9 mil-

lion. Cash flow from operations during 2005 was positively

impacted by additional depreciation and amortization of

$2.7 million versus the prior year. Trade accounts receivable

required additional cash flow of $22.1 million, principally

associated with an increase in sales versus the prior year,

but with a favorable reduction of 0.5 days sales outstanding

(“DSO”) since May 31, 2004. Inventories required an addi-

tional $12.5 million of operating cash year-over-year as a

result of the increased sales volume and the associated

inventory necessary to support these levels, while our days

outstanding in inventory also improved by 0.2 days since

May 31, 2004, to slightly offset a portion of this cash usage.

An increase in accounts payable provided $38.4 million of

additional cash year-over-year mainly as a result of the

increased inventory levels and the timing of payments. 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets were a year-

over-year use of cash of $27.0 million, mostly as a result of

an insurance receivable recorded during fiscal 2005. Accrued

loss reserves were a source of cash of $16.3 million year-

over-year, primarily as a result of recording additional loss

reserves related to product liability. Accrued other liabilities

were a use of cash of $12.0 million year-over-year mainly 

as a result of net reductions in interest, advertising, and

compensation and benefit-related liabilities. Accrued other

long-term liabilities were a source of cash of $8.7 million

principally as a result of the year-over-year net increases in

deferred income, deferred compensation and product 

warranty reserves. 

Payment reductions in long-term and short-term

asbestos related reserves, net of taxes, of approximately

$42.8 million in fiscal 2005 and $33.7 million in fiscal 2004

were a year-over-year additional use of cash of $9.1 million.

As disclosed in our “Critical Accounting Policies and 

Estimates” and our discussion on asbestos litigation (also

refer to Note H), the significant increase in asbestos claims

activity and costs relating to our Bondex subsidiary caused

our related third-party insurance to be depleted during the

first quarter of fiscal 2004. Accordingly, we are now funding

costs previously covered by insurance with cash from opera-

tions. We anticipate that cash from operations and other

sources will continue to be sufficient to meet all asbestos-

related obligations on a short-term and long-term basis. 

All other remaining balance sheet changes related to

cash flows from operations had a net positive impact of

$7.4 million, mostly due to timing or exchange differences.

Cash provided from operations remains our primary

source of financing internal growth, with limited use of

short-term debt. 

Investing Activities

Capital expenditures, other than for ordinary repairs

and replacements, are made to accommodate our continued

growth through improved production and distribution 

efficiencies and capacity, and to enhance administration.

Capital expenditures in fiscal 2005 of $55.6 million compare

with depreciation of $49.8 million. Capital spending is

expected to slightly outpace our depreciation levels for the

next several years as additional capacity is brought on line

to support our continued growth. With this additional

minor plant expansion, we believe there will be adequate

production capacity to meet our needs for the next several

years at normal growth rates.

During fiscal 2005, there were investments totaling

$15.6 million (refer to Note A) for five acquisitions, net of

proceeds from a divestiture.

Our captive insurance companies invest in marketable

securities in the ordinary course of conducting their 

operations, and this activity will continue (refer to Note A).

Differences in these activities between years are attributa-

ble to the timing and performance of their investments.

Financing Activities

In December 2003, we issued and sold $200 million of

6.25% Senior Notes due 2013 as a means of refinancing.

The Notes were offered to qualified institutional buyers

under Rule 144A and to persons outside the United States

under Regulation S. The entire net proceeds of $197 million

from this offering were used to repay in full the $128 mil-

lion of then-outstanding borrowings under our $500 million

revolving credit facility and $69 million of the then-out-

standing $72 million balance under our asset securitization

program. On July 13, 2004, we completed an exchange

offer so as to allow holders to exchange the initial notes for

notes of the same principal amount registered under the

Securities Act of 1933. 

On September 30, 2004, we issued and sold $200 mil-

lion aggregate principal amount of 4.45% Senior Unsecured

Notes due 2009 (“4.45% Senior Notes”), which we concur-



rently swapped back to floating rate debt (refer to interest

rate discussion below). The 4.45% Senior Notes were offered

to qualified institutional buyers under Rule 144A. We used

a portion of the net proceeds of $198.0 million from this

offering to pay off our $15.0 million 6.12% Senior Notes

due 2004, which matured on November 25, 2004 and our

then-outstanding $68.0 million of commercial paper. On

April 26, 2005, pursuant to a Registration Rights Agreement

between the Company and the initial purchasers of the

4.45% Senior Notes, we completed an exchange offer so as

to allow holders to exchange the 4.45% Senior Notes for

the same principal amount of notes registered under the

Securities Act of 1933.

During November 2004, we refinanced our $500 mil-

lion revolving credit facility, due July 14, 2005, with a 

$330 million 5-year credit facility (“Credit Agreement”), 

due November 19, 2009. This new facility will be used for

general corporate purposes, including acquisitions and to

provide back-up liquidity for the issuance of commercial

paper. The facility provides for borrowings in U.S. dollars

and several foreign currencies and provides sublimits for the

issuance of letters of credit in an aggregate amount of up

to $25.0 million and a swing-line of up to $20.0 million for

short-term borrowings of less than 15 days. In addition, the

size of the facility may be expanded upon our request by up

to an additional $100.0 million, thus potentially expanding

the facility to $430.0 million, subject to lender approval. 

As of May 31, 2005, we had no outstanding balance under

this facility.

Subsequent to year end, the Company borrowed

$115.0 million under its Credit Agreement. A portion of the

borrowing, along with cash on hand, was used to repay in

full the principal and accrued interest on the Company’s

$150.0 million 7.0% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2005. 

In addition, a portion of the cash borrowed was used for

general corporate purposes.

Our available liquidity beyond our cash balance at 

May 31, 2005 stood at $454.5 million (refer to Note B). Our

debt-to-capital ratio was 44.5% at May 31, 2005, up from

42% at May 31, 2004. Had we been able to reduce our total

outstanding debt by all of our cash and short-term invest-

ments available as of May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004, to

satisfy some of our indebtedness, much of which was 

earmarked at May 31, 2005 for the June 15, 2005 maturity

described above, our adjusted net (of cash) debt-to-capital

ratio would have been 38.5% and 41.3%, respectively.
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The following table summarizes our financial obligations and their expected maturities at May 31, 2005 and the effect

such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in the periods indicated.

Contractual Obligations

Total Contractual
Payments Due In

(In thousands) Payment Stream 2006 2007-08 2009-10 After 2010

Long-term debt obligations $ 838,045 $ 97 $260,217 $377,697 $200,034 
Operating lease obligations 79,560 23,765 32,482 12,429 10,884 
Other long-term liabilities(1) 144,000 13,200 22,700 30,900 77,200 

Total $1,061,605 $37,062 $315,399 $421,026 $288,118 

(1) These amounts represent our estimated cash contributions to be made in the periods indicated for our pension and postretirement plans in the U.S. and
Canada, assuming no actuarial gains or losses, assumption change or plan changes occur in any period. Projections for our other non-U.S. plans are not 
currently determinable.

The condition of the U.S. dollar fluctuated throughout

the year, and was moderately weaker against other major

currencies where we conduct operations at the fiscal year

end over the previous year end, causing a favorable change 

in the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

(refer to Note A) component of stockholders’ equity of

$15.0 million this year versus $9.7 million last year. This

change was in addition to changes of $(1.9) million and 

$0.7 million related to adjustments required for minimum

pension liabilities and unrealized gain (loss) on securities,

respectively.

We maintain excellent relations with our banks and

other financial institutions to provide continual access to

financing for future growth opportunities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet financings,

other than the minimum leasing commitments described in

Note E. We have no subsidiaries that are not included in our

financial statements, nor do we have any interests in or

relationships with any special purpose entities that are not

reflected in our financial statements.



QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES 
ABOUT MARKET RISK 

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest

rates and foreign currency exchange rates because we fund

our operations through long- and short-term borrowings

and denominate our business transactions in a variety of

foreign currencies. We utilize a sensitivity analysis to 

measure the potential loss in earnings based on a hypo-

thetical 1% increase in interest rates and a 10% change in

foreign currency rates. A summary of our primary market

risk exposures follows.

Interest Rate Risk

Our primary interest rate risk exposure results from our

floating rate debt, including various revolving and other

lines of credit (refer to Note B). At May 31, 2005, approxi-

mately 35.5% of our debt was subject to floating interest

rates. If interest rates were to increase 100 bps from May

31, 2005 and assuming no changes in debt from the May 31,

2005 levels, the additional annual interest expense would

amount to approximately $3.0 million on a pre-tax basis. 

A similar increase in interest rates in fiscal 2004 would 

have resulted in approximately $1.6 million in additional

interest expense.

Our hedged risks are associated with certain fixed rate

debt whereby we have a $200.0 million notional amount

interest rate swap contract designated as a fair value hedge

to pay floating rates of interest based on six-month LIBOR

that matures in fiscal 2010. Because critical terms of the

debt and interest rate swap match, the hedge is considered

perfectly effective against changes in the fair value of debt,

and therefore, there is no need to periodically reassess the

effectiveness during the term of the hedge. 

All derivative instruments are recognized on the 

balance sheet and measured at fair value. Changes in the

fair values of derivative instruments that do not qualify as

hedges and/or any ineffective portion of hedges are recog-

nized as a gain or loss in our consolidated statement of

income in the current period. Changes in the fair value of

derivative instruments used effectively as fair value hedges

are recognized in earnings (losses), along with the change

in the value of the hedged item. Such derivative transac-

tions are accounted for under SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended

and interpreted. The Company does not hold or issue deriv-

ative instruments for speculative purposes. 

Foreign Currency Risk

Our foreign sales and results of operations are subject

to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations (refer to 

Note A). As most of our foreign operations are in countries

with fairly stable currencies, such as Belgium, Canada and

the United Kingdom, this effect has not generally been

material. In addition, foreign debt is denominated in the

respective foreign currency, thereby eliminating any related

translation impact on earnings.

If the U.S. dollar continues to weaken, our foreign

results of operations will be positively impacted, but the

effect is not expected to be material. A 10% change in 

foreign currency exchange rates would not have resulted in

a material impact to net income for the years ended May

31, 2005 and 2004. We do not currently hedge against the

risk of exchange rate fluctuations.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The foregoing discussion includes forward-looking

statements relating to our business. These forward-looking

statements, or other statements made by us, are made

based on our expectations and beliefs concerning future

events impacting us and are subject to uncertainties and

factors (including those specified below) that are difficult 

to predict and in many instances, are beyond our control. 

As a result, our actual results could differ materially from

those expressed in or implied by any such forward-looking 

statements. These uncertainties and factors include: 

(a) general economic conditions; (b) the price and supply 

of raw materials, particularly petroleum-based, titanium

dioxide, certain resins, aerosols and solvents; (c) continued

growth in demand for our products; (d) legal, environmen-

tal and litigation risks inherent in our construction and

chemicals businesses and risks related to the adequacy of

our reserves and insurance coverage for such matters; 

(e) the effect of changes in interest rates; (f) the effect of

fluctuations in currency exchange rates upon our foreign

operations; (g) the effect of non-currency risks of investing

in and conducting operations in foreign countries, including

those relating to domestic and international political, social, 

economic and regulatory factors; (h) risks and uncertainties

associated with our ongoing acquisition and divestiture

activities; (i) risks inherent in our contingent liability

reserves, including asbestos; and other risks detailed in our

other reports and statements filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission, including the risk factors set forth in

our prospectus and prospectus supplement included as part

of our Registration Statement on Form S-3 (file No. 333-

120536), as the same may be amended from time to time.  
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(In thousands, except per share amounts)
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May 31 2005 2004

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and short-term investments (Note A) $ 184,140 $ 34,559 
Trade accounts receivable (less allowances of $18,565 in 2005

and $18,147 in 2004) 553,084 488,139 
Inventories (Note A) 334,404 289,359 
Deferred income taxes (Notes A and C) 40,876 40,919 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note A) 158,991 138,613 

Total current assets 1,271,495 991,589 

Property, Plant and Equipment, at Cost (Note A)
Land 24,510 24,687 
Buildings and leasehold improvements 236,576 231,140 
Machinery and equipment 514,478 511,245 

775,564 767,072 
Less allowance for depreciation and amortization 385,586 386,017 

Property, plant and equipment, net 389,978 381,055 

Other Assets
Goodwill (Note A) 663,224 648,243 
Other intangible assets, net of amortization (Note A) 275,744 282,372 
Other 55,804 46,832 

Total other assets 994,772 977,447 

Total Assets $2,656,245 $2,350,091 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 274,573 $ 205,092 
Current portion of long-term debt (Note B) 97 991 
Accrued compensation and benefits 95,667 88,670 
Accrued loss reserves (Note H) 65,452 56,699 
Asbestos-related liabilities (Note H) 55,000 47,500 
Other accrued liabilities 84,550 75,513 

Total current liabilities 575,339 474,465 

Long-Term Liabilities
Long-term debt, less current maturities (Note B) 837,948 718,929 
Asbestos-related liabilities (Note H) 46,172 43,107 
Other long-term liabilities 71,363 59,910 
Deferred income taxes (Notes A and C) 78,914 78,388 

Total long-term liabilities 1,034,397 900,334 

Total liabilities 1,609,736 1,374,799 

Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, par value $0.01; authorized 50,000 shares; 

none issued
Common stock, par value $0.01; authorized 300,000 shares;

issued and outstanding 117,554 as of May 2005;
issued and outstanding 116,122 as of May 2004 (Note D) 1,176 1,161 

Paid-in capital 535,204 513,986 
Treasury stock, at cost
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (Note A) 10,004 (3,881)
Retained earnings 500,125 464,026 

Total stockholders’ equity 1,046,509 975,292 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $2,656,245 $2,350,091 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended May 31 2005 2004 2003

Net Sales (Note A) $2,555,735 $2,307,553 $2,053,482 
Cost of Sales 1,449,184 1,276,372 1,134,207 

Gross Profit 1,106,551 1,031,181 919,275 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 829,445 784,620 704,710 
Asbestos Charges (Note H) 78,000 140,000 
Interest Expense, Net (Note A) 35,378 28,945 26,712 

Income Before Income Taxes 163,728 217,616 47,853 
Provision for Income Taxes (Note C) 58,696 75,730 12,526 

Net Income $ 105,032 $ 141,886 $ 35,327 

Average Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding (Note D)
Basic 116,899 115,777 115,294 
Diluted 126,364 124,744 116,405 

Earnings per Common Share 
Basic $ 0.90 $ 1.23 $ 0.31 
Diluted $ 0.86 $ 1.16 $ 0.30 

Cash Dividends per Share of Common Stock $ 0.590 $ 0.550 $ 0.515 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)

Accumulated
Common Stock Other

Number Par/ Comprehensive 
of Shares Stated Paid-in Treasury Income (Loss) Retained
(Note D) Value Capital Stock (Note A) Earnings Total

Balance at May 31, 2002 114,696 $1,786 $585,566 $(88,364) $(50,485) $409,603 $ 858,106 
Comprehensive income

Net income 35,327 35,327 
Translation gain and other 33,316 33,316 

Comprehensive income 68,643 
Dividends paid (59,139) (59,139)
Treasury stock retired (113) (85,723) 85,836 
Repurchase of stock (100) (1,167) (1,167)
Stock option exercises, net 300 2 2,015 1,269 3,286 
Restricted stock awards 600 5 6,111 1,259 7,375 
Par value adjustment and other (524) 428 (96)

Balance at May 31, 2003 115,496 1,156 508,397 (1,167) (17,169) 385,791 877,008 
Comprehensive income

Net income 141,886 141,886 
Translation gain and other 13,288 13,288 

Comprehensive income 155,174 
Dividends paid (63,651) (63,651)
Stock option exercises, net 555 5 5,453 338 5,796 
Restricted stock awards 71 136 829 965 

Balance at May 31, 2004 116,122 1,161 513,986 -0- (3,881) 464,026 975,292 
Comprehensive income

Net income 105,032 105,032 
Translation gain and other 13,885 13,885 

Comprehensive income 118,917 
Dividends paid (68,933) (68,933)
Stock option exercises, net 1,109 11 12,532 12,543 
Grants of stock options 2,850 2,850 
Restricted stock awards, net 323 4 5,836 5,840 

Balance at May 31, 2005 117,554 $1,176 $535,204 $ -0- $ 10,004 $500,125 $1,046,509 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended May 31 2005 2004 2003

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income $105,032 $141,886 $ 35,327 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 49,841 47,840 44,736 
Amortization 16,151 15,437 13,938 
Increase (decrease) in deferred income taxes 305 31,815 (46,733)
(Earnings) of unconsolidated affiliates (354) (314) (396)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect
from purchases and sales of businesses:

(Increase) decrease in receivables (63,611) (41,516) (37,259)
(Increase) decrease in inventory (44,429) (31,949) 997 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other 

current and long-term assets (24,101) 258 (34,131)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 69,037 30,607 9,934 
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensation and benefits 6,621 9,124 (3,831)
Increase (decrease) in accrued loss reserves 8,753 (7,531) 15,358 
Increase (decrease) in other accrued liabilities 7,733 7,487 (761)
Increase (decrease) in asbestos-related liabilities 10,565 (53,976) 141,206 
Other including exchange rate changes 15,809 4,867 17,891 

Cash From Operating Activities 157,352 154,035 156,276 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures (55,609) (51,253) (41,814)
Acquisition of new businesses, net of cash acquired (20,100) (37,703) (65,994)
Purchase of marketable securities (44,309) (36,955) (15,145)
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 39,154 21,410 11,376 
(Investments in) and distributions from unconsolidated affiliates 136 (425) 974 
Proceeds from the sales of assets and businesses 5,426 3,664 202 
Other (666) (1,284) 597 

Cash (Used For) Investing Activities (75,968) (102,546) (109,804)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Additions to long-term and short-term debt 200,153 200,345 305,200 
Reductions of long-term and short-term debt (79,665) (206,623) (294,099)
Cash dividends (68,933) (63,651) (59,139)
Exercise of stock options 12,543 5,796 3,286 
Repurchase of stock (1,167)

Cash From (Used For) Financing Activities 64,098 (64,133) (45,919)

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and 
Short-Term Investments 4,099 234 4,244 

Net Change in Cash and Short-Term Investments 149,581 (12,410) 4,797 
Cash and Short-Term Investments at Beginning of Year 34,559 46,969 42,172 

Cash and Short-Term Investments at End of Year $184,140 $ 34,559 $ 46,969 

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flows Information:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 39,279 $ 25,572 $ 28,678 
Income taxes $ 48,535 $ 59,252 $ 59,234 

Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing
and Financing Activities:

Shares issued for restricted stock plan $ 5,840 $ 965 $ 7,375 
Grants of stock options $ 2,850 
Debt from business combinations $ 1,230 
Receivables from the sale of assets $ 1,233 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1) Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

Our financial statements consolidate all of our affiliates–

companies that we control and in which we hold a majority

voting interest. We account for our investments in less than

majority-owned joint ventures under the equity method.

Effects of transactions between related companies are

eliminated.

In reconciling income taxes payable for 2005, we 

identified certain fiscal 2003 tax payments that were not

reflected in our financial statements. The impact of this 

discovery has resulted in our reclassification of the May 31,

2004 balance sheet. The reclassification had no impact on 

fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 net income or the cash and

income taxes payable balances at May 31, 2005 nor does it

impact cash flows for each of the two years ended May 31,

2005 and 2004. Previously reported cash flow for the year

ended May 31, 2003 was reduced by $4.0 million.

We have also reclassified certain prior-year amounts to

conform to this year’s presentation. 

2) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity

with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in

the United States requires us to make estimates and

assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and

liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at

the date of the financial statements, and reported amounts

of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

3) Business Combinations

During the year ended May 31, 2005, we completed

five acquisitions of product lines. As of the respective dates

of acquisition, we recorded the following estimated fair

values of assets and liabilities assumed:

(In thousands)

Current assets $ 2,920 
Property, plant and equipment 2,283 
Goodwill 10,386 
Other intangible assets 6,285 
Liabilities assumed (1,774)

Net Assets Acquired $20,100 

Our consolidated financial statements reflect the results

of operations of these businesses as of their respective dates

of acquisition. 

Pro forma results of operations for the years ended

May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004 were not materially

different from reported results and, consequently, are 

not presented.

4) Foreign Currency

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is

their local currency. Accordingly, for the periods presented,

assets and liabilities have been translated using exchange

rates at year end while income and expense for the periods

have been translated using a weighted average exchange

rate. The resulting translation adjustments have been

recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income

(loss), a component of stockholders’ equity, and will be

included in net earnings only upon the sale or liquidation 

of the underlying foreign investment, neither of which is

contemplated at this time. Transaction gains and losses 

have been immaterial during the past three fiscal years.

NOTES to CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

May 31, 2005, 2004, 2003
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6) Cash and Short-Term Investments

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, we 

consider all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with 

a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

We do not believe we are exposed to any significant credit

risk on cash and short-term investments.

7) Marketable Securities

Marketable securities, included in other current assets,

are considered available for sale and are reported at fair

value, based on quoted market prices. Changes in unreal-

ized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, are recorded

in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within

Stockholders’ Equity. If we were to experience any signifi-

cant other-than-temporary declines in market value from

original cost, those amounts would be reflected in operating

income in the period in which the loss were to occur. 

In order to determine whether an other-than-temporary

decline in market value has occurred, the duration of the

decline in value and our ability to hold the investment to

recovery are considered in conjunction with an evaluation

of the strength of the underlying collateral and the extent

to which the investment’s carrying value exceeds its related

market value. Marketable securities totaled $49.1 million

and $41.4 million at May 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

8) Financial Instruments

Financial instruments recorded on the balance sheet

include cash and short-term investments, accounts receiv-

able, notes and accounts payable, and debt. The carrying

amount of cash and short-term investments, accounts

receivable and notes and accounts payable approximates

fair value because of their short-term maturity. 

All derivative instruments are recognized on the balance

sheet and measured at fair value. Changes in the fair values

of derivative instruments that do not qualify as hedges

and/or any ineffective portion of hedges are recognized as

a gain or loss in our consolidated statement of income in

the current period. Changes in the fair value of derivative

instruments used effectively as fair value hedges are recog-

nized in earnings (losses), along with the change in the

value of the hedged item. Such derivative transactions are

accounted for under SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Deriva-

tive Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended and

interpreted. The Company does not hold or issue derivative

instruments for speculative purposes. 

The carrying amount of our other debt instruments

approximates fair value based on quoted market prices,

variable interest rates or borrowing rates for similar types

of debt arrangements.

5) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), which is shown net of taxes, consists of the following components:

Foreign Minimum Unrealized
Currency Pension Gain (Loss)

Translation Liability on
(In thousands) Adjustments Adjustments Securities Total

Balance at May 31, 2002 $(49,681) $ (253) $ (551) $(50,485)
Reclassification adjustments for (gains) 

losses included in net income (149) (149)
Other comprehensive gain (loss) 39,872 (8,695) (1,242) 29,935
Deferred taxes 2,757 773 3,530

Balance at May 31, 2003 (9,809) (6,191) (1,169) (17,169)
Reclassification adjustments for (gains)

losses included in net income 97 97
Other comprehensive gain (loss) 9,686 1,603 2,645 13,934
Deferred taxes (467) (276) (743)

Balance at May 31, 2004 (123) (5,055) 1,297 (3,881)
Reclassification adjustments for (gains) 

losses included in net income (73) (73)
Other comprehensive gain (loss) 15,008 (2,379) 1,082 13,711
Deferred taxes 529 (282) 247

Balance at May 31, 2005 $ 14,885 $(6,905) $2,024 $ 10,004
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9) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market,

cost being determined substantially on a first-in, first-out

(FIFO) basis and market being determined on the basis of

replacement cost or net realizable value. Inventory costs

include raw material, labor and manufacturing overhead.

Inventories were composed of the following major classes:

May 31 2005 2004

(In thousands)

Raw material and supplies $105,060 $ 95,378
Finished goods 229,344 193,981 

Total Inventory $334,404 $289,359

10) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We elected to adopt the provisions of Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill

and Other Intangible Assets,” as of June 1, 2001, at which

time we ceased the amortization of all goodwill. We also

elected to perform the required annual impairment assess-

ment in the first quarter of our fiscal year. If a loss were to

result from the performance of the annual test, it would be

reflected in operating income. The annual goodwill impair-

ment assessment involves estimating the fair value of each

reporting unit, which has been defined as one level below

our industrial and consumer operating segments, and com-

paring it with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of

the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, additional steps are

followed to recognize a potential impairment loss. Calculat-

ing the fair value of the reporting units requires significant

estimates and assumptions by management. We estimate

the fair value of our reporting units by applying third-party

market value indicators to each of our reporting units’ 

projected earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and

amortization. In applying this methodology, we rely on a

number of factors, including future business plans, actual

operating results and market data. In the event that our

calculations indicate that goodwill is impaired, a fair value

estimate of each tangible and intangible asset would be

established. This process would require the application of

discounted cash flows expected to be generated by each

asset in addition to independent asset appraisals, as appro-

priate. Cash flow estimates are based on our historical

experience and our internal business plans, and appropriate

discount rates are applied. The results of our annual impair-

ment tests for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004,

performed during the first quarter of each respective fiscal

year, did not require any adjustment to the carrying value

of goodwill.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by

reporting segment, for the year ended May 31, 2005, are 

as follows:

Industrial Consumer
(In thousands) Segment Segment Total

Balance as of 
May 31, 2004 $303,743 $344,500 $648,243 

Acquisitions 8,657 1,729 10,386 
Purchase accounting 

adjustments* 590 590 
Divestitures (2,114) (2,114)
Translation adjustments 5,550 569 6,119 

Balance as of 
May 31, 2005 $316,426 $346,798 $663,224 

*Relates primarily to other accruals.
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Other intangible assets consist of the following major classes:

Gross Net Other
Amortization Carrying Accumulated Intangible

(In thousands) Period (in Years) Amount Amortization Assets

As of May 31, 2005
Amortized intangible assets

Formulae 10 to 33 $176,884 $ 65,628 $111,256 
Customer-related intangibles 7 to 33 69,152 19,346 49,806 
Trademarks/names 5 to 40 9,812 3,270 6,542 
Other 3 to 30 24,335 12,009 12,326 

Total Amortized Intangibles 280,183 100,253 179,930 
Unamortized intangible assets

Trade names 95,814 95,814 

Total Other Intangible Assets $375,997 $100,253 $275,744 

As of May 31, 2004
Amortized intangible assets

Formulae 10 to 33 $175,694 $ 57,749 $117,945 
Customer-related intangibles 7 to 33 67,202 16,119 51,083 
Trademarks/names 5 to 40 6,637 2,887 3,750 
Other 3 to 30 24,994 11,464 13,530 

Total Amortized Intangibles 274,527 88,219 186,308 
Unamortized intangible assets

Trade names 96,064 96,064 

Total Other Intangible Assets $370,591 $ 88,219 $282,372 

The aggregate other intangible asset amortization expense for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was

$13.0 million, $12.8 million and $11.9 million, respectively. For each of the next five fiscal years through May 31, 2010, the

estimated annual intangible asset amortization expense will approximate $12.0 million.

11) Depreciation

Depreciation is computed primarily using the straight-

line method over the following ranges of useful lives:

Land improvements 5 to 42 years
Buildings and improvements 5 to 50 years
Machinery and equipment 2 to 20 years

12) Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when realized or realizable,

and when earned. In general, this is when title and risk of

loss passes to the customer. Further, revenues are realizable

when we have persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement,

the product has been shipped or the services have been

provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or deter-

minable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. We reduce

our revenues for estimated customer returns and allowances,

certain rebates, sales incentives, and promotions in the

same period the related sales are recorded. 

13) Shipping Costs

Shipping costs paid to third-party shippers for trans-

porting products to customers are included in selling, 

general and administrative expenses. For the years ended

May 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, shipping costs were $100.1

million, $86.0 million and $78.9 million, respectively.

14) Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are charged to operations when

incurred and are included in selling, general and adminis-

trative expenses. For the years ended May 31, 2005, 2004

and 2003, advertising costs were $33.7 million, $37.1 million

and $28.5 million, respectively.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2005, we changed our

accounting classification for cooperative advertising by

reflecting the amounts paid as a reduction of sales as

opposed to a component of selling, general and administra-

tive expenses and reclassified the previous year’s informa-

tion. The new classification represents only a movement of

expense and therefore has no impact on our earnings or

earnings per share.

15) Research and Development

Research and development costs are charged to opera-

tions when incurred and are included in selling, general and

administrative expenses. The amounts charged for the years

ended May 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $28.9 million,

$26.2 million and $23.8 million, respectively. The customer-

sponsored portion of such expenditures was not significant.
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16) Stock-Based Compensation

Effective June 1, 2004, we voluntarily adopted the

preferable fair value recognition provisions of Statement of

Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Account-

ing for Stock-Based Compensation,” for our stock-based

employee compensation plans. As outlined by SFAS No. 148,

“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and

Disclosure,” we chose to apply the modified prospective

method in adopting this accounting change. Under this

method, stock-based employee compensation expense 

recognized in fiscal 2005 is the same as that which would

have been recognized had the fair value recognition 

provisions of SFAS No. 123 been applied to account for all

employee awards from its original effective date. Results of

prior periods have not been restated.

The adoption of SFAS No. 123 impacted net income,

basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share for

the year ended May 31, 2005 by approximately $2.4 million,

$0.02 per share and $0.02 per share. Prior to June 1, 2004

the Company accounted for stock-based compensation in

accordance with APB opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock

Issued to Employees.” The following table represents the

effect on net income and earnings per share for the years

ended May 31, 2004 and 2003, as if compensation cost for

stock options granted had been determined in accordance

with the fair value method prescribed by SFAS No. 123:

Year Ended May 31 2004 2003

(In thousands, except per share amounts) Basic Diluted Basic Diluted

Net income, as reported $141,886 $141,886 $35,327 $35,327 
Add: Income effect of contingently convertible shares1 3,142 158 

Adjusted net income, as reported 141,886 145,028 35,327 35,485 
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense

from restricted stock plans included in reported 
net income, net of related tax effects 825 825 1,339 1,339 

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
determined under fair value-based method for all 
awards, net of related tax effects (3,969) (3,969) (4,517) (4,517)

Pro Forma Net Income $138,742 $141,884 $32,149 $32,307 

Earnings per Share: 
As Reported $1.23 $1.16 $0.31 $0.30 

Pro Forma $1.20 $1.14 $0.28 $0.28 

1 Refer to Note D, Common Stock, for additional information regarding the accounting treatment of contingently convertible securities.

The fair value of stock options granted is estimated as

of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing

model with the following weighted average assumptions:

2005 2004 2003

Risk-free interest rate 3.7% 3.7% 3.3%
Expected life of option 6.4 yrs 7.0 yrs 7.0 yrs
Expected dividend yield 3.4% 3.5% 3.5%
Expected volatility rate 31.0% 35.9% 37.3%

17) Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense is shown net of investment income,

which consists of interest, dividends and capital gains

(losses). Investment income for the years ended May 31,

2005, 2004 and 2003 was $5.0 million, $2.3 million and 

$1.4 million, respectively.

18) Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is calculated in accor-

dance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

(“SFAS”) No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which

requires the recognition of deferred income taxes using the

liability method. Under the liability method, deferred

income taxes are recognized for the tax effect of temporary

differences between the financial statement carrying

amount of assets and liabilities and the amounts used for

income tax purposes and for certain changes in valuation

allowances. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce

certain deferred tax assets when, in our estimation, it is

more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized.

We have not provided for U.S. income and foreign

withholding taxes on approximately $447.1 million of for-

eign subsidiaries’ undistributed earnings as of May 31, 2005,

because such earnings have been retained and reinvested
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by the subsidiaries. Accordingly, no provision has been

made for U.S. or foreign withholding taxes which may

become payable if undistributed earnings of foreign 

subsidiaries were paid to us as dividends. The additional

income taxes and applicable withholding taxes that would

result had such earnings actually been repatriated are not

practically determinable. 

19) Other Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards

Board ratified the consensus of the Emerging Issues Task

Force (the “EITF”) with respect to EITF issue 04-8, “The

Effect of Contingently Convertible Instruments on Diluted

Earnings Per Share.” The consensus requires us to consider

all instruments with contingent conversion features that

include a market price trigger in our diluted earnings per

share calculations, regardless of whether that market price

trigger has been met. Therefore, our calculation of fully

diluted earnings per share includes the 8,034,355 contin-

gent shares of our common stock related to our convertible

debt, which includes a market price trigger, by applying 

the “if-converted” method. EITF 04-8 also requires us to

restate previously reported earnings per share for all prior 

periods presented. 

On October 22, 2004 the American Jobs Creation Act 

of 2004 (the “Act”) was signed into law. Included in the Act

is a provision allowing, in general, a new special tax deduc-

tion of up to 9% (once fully phased-in) of the lesser of 

1) “qualified production activities income” as defined in the

Act or 2) taxable income for the tax year, after deduction

for the utilization of any net operating loss carryforwards. 

As a result of the new special tax deduction provision

included in the Act, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No.

109-1, “Application of FASB Statement No. 109 (“SFAS

109”), ‘Accounting for Income Taxes,’ to the Tax Deduction

on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American

Jobs Creation Act of 2004” (“FSP 109-1”) in December 2004.

FSP 109-1 provides that the new special tax deduction

created in the Act should be accounted for as a special

deduction in accordance with SFAS No. 109 and not as a 

tax rate reduction. 

The effective date of the new special tax deduction

included in the Act is for tax years beginning after Decem-

ber 31, 2004. Accordingly, the new provision is not available

for our current fiscal year ending May 31, 2005. Rather, the

new provision is first available to us for our fiscal year 

ending May 31, 2006. We are currently evaluating the effect

that the new special tax deduction will have on our results

for the year ending May 31, 2006. 

Also included in the Act is a provision allowing corpo-

rate taxpayers to claim a special one-time dividends received

deduction of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated

to the U.S. In general, a deduction of 85% of certain 

dividends, in excess of a base-period amount, received from

certain controlled foreign subsidiaries is allowable. The

repatriation provision is comprised of an intricate set of rules

and is subject to limitations and reinvestment requirements.

The new provision is applicable, given our fiscal year-end,

for qualified repatriations made prior to May 31, 2006.

In response to the new special one-time dividends

received deduction, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No.

109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign

Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs

Creation Act of 2004” (“FSP 109-2”) in December 2004. FSP

109-2 provides accounting and disclosure guidance for the

repatriation process. 

Given the complexity of the repatriation provision,

computing the tax effects of the repatriation provision is

not practically determinable at this time. Accordingly, we

have not elected the repatriation provision for our fiscal

year ended May 31, 2005. We may elect to apply this provi-

sion during our year ending May 31, 2006. The Company

expects to complete an evaluation of the effect the new

special one-time dividends received deduction, including a

comprehensive calculation of the applicable base-period

amount and tax effect any repatriation may have on our

results for the year ending May 31, 2006. We plan to com-

plete our evaluation during our 2006 fiscal year. 

In December 2004 the FASB issued SFAS No. 123

(Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“Statement

123(R)”). Statement 123(R) requires that all share-based

payments be recognized in the financial statements based

on their fair values. The provisions of this statement are

effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15,

2005. As discussed above we began expensing stock options

as of June 1, 2004. As such, the adoption of Statement

123(R) is not expected to have a material impact on the

Company’s results of operations or financial position.

In November 2004 the FASB issued SFAS No. 151,

“Inventory Costs, an amendment to ARB No. 43, Chapter 4.”

SFAS No. 151 requires that certain costs, including abnormal

idle capacity expense and freight, be excluded from the cost

of inventory and that fixed production costs be allocated

based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.

The requirements of this statement are effective for periods

ending after December 31, 2005. The adoption of State-

ment 151 is not expected to have a material impact on the

Company’s results of operations or financial position.
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NOTE B – BORROWINGS

A description of long-term debt follows:

May 31 2005 2004

(In thousands)

Unsecured 4.45% senior notes due October 15, 2009.1 $197,637 

Unsecured 6.25% senior notes due December 15, 2013. 200,000 $200,000 

Unsecured $297,000,000 face value at maturity 2.75% senior convertible 
notes due May 13, 2033. 150,042 150,042 

Unsecured 7.00% senior notes due June 15, 2005.2 150,000 150,000 

Unsecured notes due March 1, 2008. Interest, which is tied to LIBOR, averaged 
2.91% at May 31, 2005.  100,000 100,000 

Commercial paper with a weighted average interest rate at May 31, 2004 of 1.59%.  60,651 

Unsecured senior notes due insurance companies: 6.61% due November 15, 2006 in the 
amount of $10,000,000 and 7.30% due November 15, 2008 in the amount of $30,000,000. 40,000 55,000 

Revolving 364-day credit agreement for $28,000,000 with a bank through October 12, 2004. 
Interest was 1.56% at May 31, 2004. 2,955 

Other unsecured notes payable at various rates of interest due in installments through 2011. 366 1,272 

838,045 719,920 
Less current portion 97 991 

Total Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities $837,948 $718,929 

1 We entered into an interest rate swap which has the effect of converting this fixed rate note to variable rates based on the six-month London Interbank
Offered Rate (LIBOR). The weighted average effective rate was 4.03%.

2 These obligations which were refinanced in June 2005 have been classified as long-term debt.

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt for the

five years subsequent to May 31, 2005 are as follows: 

2006 – $0.1 million; 2007 – $10.1 million; 2008 – $250.1 mil-

lion (including $150.0 million of 2.75% Senior Convertible

Notes based on the date of the noteholders’ first put

option); 2009 – $30.0 million; 2010 – $347.7 million. Addi-

tionally, at May 31, 2005, we had unused lines of credit

totaling $454.5 million. 

In June 2002, we established an accounts receivable

securitization program with several banks for certain of our

subsidiaries, providing for a wholly-owned special purpose

entity (“SPE”) to receive investments of up to $125.0 mil-

lion. The securitized accounts receivable are owned in their

entirety by RPM Funding Corporation, a wholly owned 

consolidated subsidiary of RPM International Inc., and are

not available to satisfy claims of our creditors until the 

participating banks’ obligations have been paid in full. This

securitization is accomplished by having certain subsidiaries

sell various of their accounts receivable to the SPE, and by

having the SPE then transfer those receivables to a conduit

administered by a bank. This transaction did not constitute

a form of off-balance sheet financing, and is fully reflected

in our financial statements. This transaction increased our

liquidity and reduced our financing costs by replacing up to

$125.0 million of existing borrowings at lower interest rates.

The amounts available under the program are subject to

changes in the credit ratings of our customers, customer con-

centration levels or certain characteristics of the underlying

accounts receivable. As of May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004,

we had no outstanding balance under this arrangement. 

In May 2003, we issued $297.0 million face value at

maturity unsecured 2.75% Senior Convertible Notes due

May 13, 2033. The 2.75% Notes are convertible into

8,034,355 shares of RPM International Inc. common stock at

a price of $18.68 per share, subject to adjustment, during

any fiscal quarter for which the closing price of the common

stock is greater than $22.41 per share for a defined dura-

tion of time. The Notes are also convertible during any

period in which the credit rating of the Notes is below a

specified level or if specified corporate transactions have

occurred. The 2.75% Notes are redeemable by the holder

for the issuance price plus accrued original issue discount in

May 2008, 2013, 2018, 2023, 2028 and 2033. Interest on the

2.75% Notes is payable beginning November 13, 2003 until

May 13, 2008. After that date, cash interest will not be paid

prior to maturity subject to certain contingencies.
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In December 2003, we issued and sold $200.0 million of

6.25% Senior Notes due 2013 as a means of refinancing. The

entire net proceeds of $197.0 million from this offering were

used to repay in full the $128.0 million of then-outstanding

borrowings under our $500.0 million revolving credit facility

and $69.0 million of the then-outstanding $72.0 million 

balance under our asset securitization program.

On September 30, 2004, we issued and sold $200.0 mil-

lion of 4.45% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2009, which we

concurrently swapped back to floating interest rate debt.

We used a portion of the net proceeds to pay off our 

$15.0 million 6.12% Senior Notes due 2004, which matured

on November 15, 2004 and also our then outstanding 

$68.0 million of commercial paper. 

During November 2004, we refinanced our $500.0 mil-

lion revolving credit facility, due July 14, 2005, with a 

$330.0 million 5-year credit facility, due November 19, 2009.

This new facility will be used for general corporate purposes,

including acquisitions and to provide back-up liquidity for

the issuance of commercial paper. The facility provides for

borrowings in U.S. dollars and several foreign currencies

and provides sublimits for the issuance of letters of credit in

an aggregate amount of up to $25.0 million and a swing-

line of up to $20.0 million for short-term borrowings of 

less than 15 days. In addition, the size of the facility may 

be expanded upon our request by up to an additional

$100.0 million, thus potentially expanding the facility to

$430.0 million, subject to lender approval. As of May 31,

2005, we had no outstanding balance under the agreement.

Subsequent to year end the Company borrowed 

$115.0 million under its $330.0 million five-year revolving

credit facility. A portion of the borrowing, along with cash

on hand, was used to repay in full the principal and accrued

interest on the Company’s $150.0 million 7.0% Senior 

Unsecured Notes due 2005. In addition, a portion of the

cash borrowed was used for general corporate purposes.

NOTE C – INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes is calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which

requires the recognition of deferred income taxes using the liability method. 

Income before income taxes as shown in the consolidated statements of income consisted of the following:

Year Ended May 31   2005 2004 2003

(In thousands)

United States $115,192 $182,032 $19,025 
Foreign 48,536 35,584 28,828 

Income Before Income Taxes $163,728 $217,616 $47,853 

Provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Current
U.S. federal $ 31,313 $ 30,579 $36,841 
State and local 8,098 7,138 8,747 
Foreign 19,160 14,260 13,671 

58,571 51,977 59,259 

Deferred
U.S. federal (2,544) 21,077 (39,616)
State and local (218) 3,011 (5,659)
Foreign 2,887 (335) (1,458)

125 23,753 (46,733)

Provision for Income Taxes $ 58,696 $ 75,730 $12,526 
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At May 31, 2005, we had U.S. federal foreign tax credit

carryforwards of approximately $21.5 million which expire

starting in 2010. Additionally, we had foreign net operating

loss carryforwards of approximately $35.4 million at May 31,

2005 of which approximately $0.9 million expire at various

dates beginning in 2007 and approximately $34.5 million

which have an indefinite carryforward period. These net

operating loss and foreign tax credit carryforwards may be

used to offset a portion of future taxable income and

thereby reduce or eliminate our U.S federal or foreign

income taxes otherwise payable. 

Management has determined, based on the available

evidence, that it is uncertain that future taxable income of

certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries as well as

anticipated foreign source income will be significant enough

to recognize certain of these deferred tax assets. As a result,

a valuation allowance of approximately $4.3 million has

been recorded during the year ended May 31, 2005.

The valuation allowance relates to U.S. federal foreign

tax credit carryforwards, certain foreign net operating

losses and net foreign deferred tax assets recorded in 

purchase accounting. The most significant portion of the

valuation allowance is associated with deferred tax assets

recorded in purchase accounting. Any reversal of the valua-

tion allowance that was recorded in purchase accounting

would reduce goodwill. In the current year, a reduction of

the valuation allowance of $0.5 million was allocated to

goodwill as a result of changes in estimated deferred taxes

recorded in purchase accounting. 

The following table reconciles income tax expense computed by applying the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate

against income before income taxes to the provision for income tax expense: 

Year Ended May 31 2005 2004 2003

(In thousands)

Income tax expense at the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate $57,305 $76,166 $16,749 
Impact of foreign operations (7,810) (2,930) (2,986)
State and local income taxes net of federal income tax benefit 5,122 6,597 2,007 
Tax benefits from the extraterritorial income exclusion (754) (2,870) (1,250)
Valuation allowance 4,287 278 115 
Other 546 (1,511) (2,109)

Provision for Income Tax Expense $58,696 $75,730 $12,526 

Effective Income Tax Rate 35.8% 34.8% 26.2%

The significant components of deferred income tax

assets and liabilities as of May 31, 2005 and 2004 were as

follows:

(In thousands) 2005 2004

Deferred income tax assets 
related to:

Inventories $ 2,983 $ 1,692 
Allowance for losses 7,077 14,538 
Accrued compensation 

and benefits 7,892 8,402 
Asbestos related liabilities 36,964 33,978 
Accrued other expenses 6,768 7,753 
Other long-term liabilities 25,780 18,550 
Net operating loss and credit 

carryforwards 33,131 23,261 
Other 2,972 1,802 

Total deferred income tax assets 123,567 109,976 
Less: valuation allowance (13,946) (9,734)

Net deferred income tax assets 109,621 100,242 

Deferred income tax (liabilities) 
related to: 

Depreciation (52,846) (40,660)
Prepaid pension (10,188) (10,245)
Amortization of intangibles (84,625) (86,806)

Total deferred income tax 
(liabilities) (147,659) (137,711)

Deferred Income Tax Assets 
(Liabilities), Net $ (38,038) $ (37,469)
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NOTE D – COMMON STOCK

There were 300,000,000 shares of common stock

authorized at May 31, 2005 and 2004 with a par value of

$0.01 per share. At May 31, 2005 and 2004, there were

117,554,000 and 116,122,000 shares outstanding, respec-

tively, each of which is entitled to one vote.

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing

income available to common stockholders by the weighted

average number of shares of common stock outstanding

during each year. To compute diluted earnings per share,

the weighted average number of shares of common stock

outstanding during each year was increased by common

stock options with exercisable prices lower than the average

market prices of common stock during each year and

reduced by the number of shares assumed to have been

purchased with proceeds from the exercised options.

In October 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards

Board ratified the consensus of the Emerging Issues Task

Force (the “EITF”) with respect to EITF issue 04-8, “The

Effect of Contingently Convertible Instruments on Diluted

Earnings Per Share.” The consensus requires us to consider

all instruments with contingent conversion features that

include a market price trigger in our diluted earnings per

share calculations, regardless of whether that market price

trigger has been met. Therefore, our calculation of fully

diluted earnings per share includes the 8,034,355 contin-

gent shares of our common stock related to our convertible

debt, which includes a market price trigger, by applying the

“if-converted” method. EITF 04-8 also requires us to restate

previously reported earnings per share for all prior 

periods presented. 

Effective October 10, 2003, the RPM International Inc.

2003 Restricted Stock Plan for Directors (the “2003 Plan”)

was approved by our stockholders. The plan was established

primarily for the purpose of recruiting and retaining direc-

tors, and to align the interests of directors with the interests

of our stockholders. Only directors who are not employees

of RPM International Inc. are eligible to participate. Under

the 2003 Plan, up to 500,000 shares of RPM International Inc.

may be awarded. For the year ended May 31, 2005, 20,000

shares were granted, with 458,400 shares available for

future grant. Unamortized deferred compensation expense

relating to restricted stock grants for directors of $0.4 mil-

lion at May 31, 2005, is being amortized over a 3-year 

vesting period.

On October 8, 2004, our stockholders approved the

RPM International Inc. Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan

(the “Omnibus Plan”). The Omnibus Plan is intended to be

the primary stock-based award program for covered

employees. A wide variety of stock and stock-based awards,

as well as dollar-denominated performance-based awards,

may be granted under the Omnibus Plan. A total of

6,000,000 shares of our common stock may be subject to

awards under the Omnibus Plan. Of the 6,000,000 shares of

common stock issuable under the Omnibus Plan, up to

3,000,000 shares may be subject to “full-value” awards such

as restricted stock, restricted stock unit, performance stock

and performance stock unit awards. For the year ended

May 31, 2005, 321,500 shares of restricted stock were

granted under the Omnibus Plan, with 5,678,500 shares

available for future grant including 2,678,500 shares avail-

able for full-value awards.

In addition to the restricted shares outstanding under

the Omnibus Plan, we have restricted shares outstanding

under two equity compensation plans for employees. Under

the terms of these plans, up to 2,563,000 shares may be

awarded to certain employees, generally subject to for-

feiture until the completion of three, five or ten years of

service. For the year ended May 31, 2005, 39,500 shares

were awarded under these plans. At May 31, 2005, 59,500

shares were vested in these plans (42,000 at May 31, 2004)

subject to certain resale restrictions. Unamortized deferred

compensation expense of $3.8 million and $4.6 million 

at May 31, 2005, relating to restricted stock grants for

employees, is being amortized over the 10-year and 3-year

vesting periods, respectively. 

Gross compensation expense relating to restricted stock

awards for the years ended May 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

was $1.9 million, $1.3 million and $2.1 million, respectively.

Our Shareholder Rights Plan provides existing stock-

holders the right to purchase stock of RPM International

Inc. at a discount in certain circumstances as defined by the

Plan. The rights are not exercisable at May 31, 2005 and

expire in May 2009.

We have options outstanding under two stock option

plans, the 1989 Stock Option Plan and the 1996 Key 

Employees Stock Option Plan, the latter of which provides

for the granting of options for up to 9,000,000 shares. 

Stock options are granted to employees and directors at an

exercise price equal to the fair market value of RPM Inter-

national Inc. stock at the date of grant. These options are

generally exercisable cumulatively in equal annual install-

ments commencing one year from the grant date, and have

expiration dates ranging from October 2005 to October

2014. At May 31, 2005, 64,000 shares (648,000 at May 31,

2004) were available for future grant.



RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries

44

The following table summarizes option activity under the Plans during the last three fiscal years:

2005 2004 2003

Weighted Number Weighted Number Weighted Number
Average of Shares Average of Shares Average of Shares
Exercise Under Exercise Under Exercise Under

Shares Under Option Price Option Price Option Price Option

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Outstanding, beginning of year
(Prices ranging from $8.69 to $16.70) $13.23 7,403 $12.86 6,937 $12.57 6,223 

Options granted
(Prices ranging from $15.15 to $17.63) 17.60 584 14.10 1,254 14.08 1,191 

Options canceled/expired 
(Prices ranging from $8.81 to $17.63) 13.57 (76) 12.98 (206) 13.98 (153)

Options exercised
(Prices ranging from $8.69 to $16.35) 11.53 (1,147) 10.73 (582) 11.33 (324)

Outstanding, end of year
(Prices ranging from $8.69 to $17.63) $13.90 6,764 $13.23 7,403 $12.86 6,937 

Exercisable, end of year
(Prices ranging from $8.69 to $16.70) $13.41 4,578 $13.15 4,775 $13.19 4,477 

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable 
at May 31, 2005 at May 31, 2005

(Shares in thousands) Wtd. Avg. Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Contractual Exercise Exercise

Exercise Price Range Shares Life (Years) Price Shares Price

$ 8.00 to $ 9.99 938 5.3 $ 9.33 938 $ 9.33 
$10.00 to $11.99 194 6.3 $10.26 133 $10.26 
$12.00 to $14.99 3,213 6.6 $13.91 1,670 $13.76 
$15.00 to $16.99 1,845 2.7 $15.41 1,837 $15.41 
$17.00 to $17.63 574 9.4 $17.62 

6,764 5.6 $13.90 4,578 $13.41 

We apply Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” 

for our stock-based employee compensation plans. As outlined in SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation –

Transition and Disclosure,” we chose to apply the modified prospective method in adopting this accounting change. Under

this method, stock-based employee compensation expense in fiscal 2005 is the same as that which would have been recog-

nized had the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 been applied to account for all employee awards from its

original effective date. Results of prior periods have not been restated. See Note A, “Summary of Significant Accounting 

Policies,” for the pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share required under SFAS No. 123 

for fiscal years 2004 and 2003.
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NOTE E – LEASES

We lease certain property, plant and equipment under

long-term lease agreements, some of which provide for

increased rental payments based upon increases in the cost-

of-living index. The following table illustrates our future

minimum lease commitments under all non-cancelable lease

agreements, for each of the next five years and in the

aggregate, as of May 31, 2005:

May 31

(In thousands)

2006 $23,765 
2007 18,412 
2008 14,070 
2009 7,126 
2010 5,303 
Thereafter 10,884 

Total Minimum Lease Commitments $79,560 

Total rental expense for all operating leases amounted

to $29.4 million in 2005, $27.1 million in 2004 and $24.3

million in 2003. Capitalized leases were immaterial for the

three years ended May 31, 2005.

NOTE F – PENSION PLANS

We sponsor several pension plans for our employees,

including our principal plan (the “Retirement Plan”), which

is a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering

substantially all domestic non-union employees. Pension

benefits are provided for certain domestic union employees

through separate plans. Employees of our foreign sub-

sidiaries receive pension coverage, to the extent deemed

appropriate, through plans which are governed by local

statutory requirements. The measurement date used to

determine pension benefit measurements for both the 

U.S. and non-U.S. plans was February 28, 2005.

The Retirement Plan provides benefits that are based

upon years of service and average compensation with

accrued benefits vesting after five years. Benefits for union

employees are generally based upon years of service, or

years of service and average compensation. Our funding

policy is to contribute an amount on an annual basis that

can be deducted for federal income tax purposes, using a

different actuarial cost method and different assumptions

from those used for financial reporting. For the fiscal year

ending May 31, 2006, we expect to contribute approxi-

mately $10.1 million to the Retirement Plans in the U.S., in

addition to the approximate $2.1 million that we expect to

contribute to our foreign plans. 

Net periodic pension cost (income) consisted of the following for the three years ended May 31, 2005:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Service cost $11,231 $ 9,879 $8,904 $2,154 $1,695 $1,168 
Interest cost 7,481 7,228 6,634 4,359 3,612 2,344 
Expected return on plan assets (9,759) (7,385) (7,769) (4,117) (3,188) (2,748)
Amortization of:

Prior service cost 294 294 197 
Net gain on adoption of SFAS No. 87 (3) (23) (85)

Net actuarial (gains) losses recognized 1,500 2,542 952 1,394 1,237 324 
Curtailment/settlement (gains) losses 11 

Net Pension Cost $10,744 $12,535 $8,844 $3,790 $3,356 $1,088 
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The changes in benefit obligations and plan assets, as well as the funded status of our pension plans at May 31, 2005

and 2004, were as follows:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2005 2004

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $128,666 $112,271 $ 77,533 $59,588 
Service cost 11,231 9,879 2,154 1,695 
Interest cost 7,481 7,228 4,359 3,612 
Benefits paid (9,730) (10,696) (2,723) (2,304)
Participant contributions 681 585 
Acquisitions and new plans 755 
Actuarial (gains) losses 10,857 9,984 2,487 3,477 
Currency exchange rate changes 4,699 10,125 

Benefit Obligation at End of Year $148,505 $128,666 $ 89,190 $77,533 

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $109,920 $ 88,669 $ 56,377 $41,674 
Actual return on plan assets 5,031 28,800 4,316 6,328 
Employer contributions 12,870 3,147 3,642 2,895 
Participant contributions 681 585 
Benefits paid (9,730) (10,696) (2,723) (2,304)
Currency exchange rate changes 3,630 7,199 

Fair Value of Plan Assets at End of Year $118,091 $109,920 $ 65,923 $56,377 

(Deficit) of plan assets versus benefit obligations 
at end of year $ (30,414) $ (18,746) $(23,267) $(21,156)

Contributions after measurement date 4 2,533 183 472 
Unrecognized actuarial (gains) losses 47,992 33,907 28,826 26,406 
Unrecognized prior service cost 2,546 2,840 
Unrecognized net transitional asset (2) (5)

Net Amount Recognized $ 20,126 $ 20,529 $ 5,742 $ 5,722 

Amounts recognized in the consolidated 
balance sheets:

Prepaid benefit cost $ 20,369 $ 21,107 $ 8,676 $ 7,350 
Accrued benefit liability (755) (663) (11,260) (10,878)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 481 85 8,326 9,250 
Intangible asset 31 

Net Amount Recognized $ 20,126 $ 20,529 $ 5,742 $ 5,722 

Accumulated Benefit Obligation $114,553 $100,323 $ 76,706 $67,238 
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U.S. Plans

Actual Asset

Target Allocation
Allocation

as of February 2005 2005 2004

Equity securities 70% 70% 70%
Fixed income securities 25% 16% 21%
Cash 9% 5%
Other 5% 5% 4%

Total assets 100% 100% 100%

Non-U.S. Plans

Actual Asset

Target Allocation
Allocation

as of February 2005 2005 2004

Equity securities 58% 58% 59%
Fixed income securities 37% 36% 38%
Cash 1% 2% 1%
Property and other 4% 4% 2%

Total assets 100% 100% 100%

The following table summarizes the relationship between our plans’ benefit obligations and assets.

U.S. Plans

2005 2004

Benefit Plan Benefit Plan
(In thousands) Obligation Assets Obligation Assets

Plans with projected benefit obligation in 
excess of plan assets $145,633 $114,840 $124,704 $104,891 

Plans with accumulated benefit obligation in 
excess of plan assets $ 1,757 $ 998 $ 667 

Plans with assets in excess of projected 
benefit obligations $ 2,872 $ 3,251 $ 3,962 $ 5,029 

Plans with assets in excess of accumulated 
benefit obligations $112,796 $117,093 $ 99,655 $109,920

Non-U.S. Plans

2005 2004

Benefit Plan Benefit Plan
(In thousands) Obligation Assets Obligation Assets

Plans with projected benefit obligation in 
excess of plan assets $89,190 $65,923 $77,533 $56,377 

Plans with accumulated benefit obligation in 
excess of plan assets $48,839 $37,396 $43,705 $32,403 

Plans with assets in excess of accumulated 
benefit obligations $27,867 $28,527 $23,533 $23,973 

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets assumption, we consider the current and

expected target asset allocations of the pension portfolio, as well as historical returns and future expectations for returns on

various categories of plan assets. The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine our year-end benefit

obligations and net periodic pension cost under the plans:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans 

Year-End Benefit Obligations 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Discount rate 5.75% 6.00% 6.70% 5.40% 5.65% 6.43%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50% 4.00% 3.63% 3.48% 3.95%

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

Net Periodic Pension Cost 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Discount rate 6.00% 6.70% 7.25% 5.68% 6.43% 6.63%
Expected return on plan assets 8.75% 8.75% 9.00% 7.31% 7.25% 8.25%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 4.00% 4.00% 3.66% 3.95% 4.00%

The following tables illustrate the weighted average actual and target allocation of plan assets:
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The primary objective for the investments of the

Retirement Plan is to provide for long-term growth of capi-

tal without undue exposure to risk. This is accomplished by

utilizing a strategy of equities, fixed income securities and

cash equivalents in a mix that is conducive to participation

in a rising market while allowing for adequate protection in

a falling market. The Plan Investment Committee oversees

the investment allocation process, which includes the selec-

tion and evaluation of investment managers, the determi-

nation of investment objectives and risk guidelines, and the

monitoring of actual investment performance. In order to

properly manage investment risk, plan policy prohibits short

selling, securities lending, financial futures, options and

other specialized investments except for certain alternative

investments specifically approved by the Investment Com-

mittee. The Investment Committee reviews, on a quarterly

basis, reports of actual plan investment performance pro-

vided by independent third parties, in addition to their

review of the plan investment policy on an annual basis. 

Outside the U.S., the investment objectives are similar,

subject to local regulations. In general, investments are

managed by private investment managers, reporting to our

Investment Committee on a regular basis. 

In addition to the defined benefit pension plans dis-

cussed above, we also sponsor employee savings plans

under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, which

cover many employees in the United States. The majority of

the plans provide for matching contributions based upon

qualified employee contributions. Matching contributions

are invested in the same manner that the participants invest

their own contributions. Matching contributions charged to

income were $8.2 million, $7.8 million and $6.1 million for

years ending May 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Company expects to pay the following estimated

pension benefit payments in the next five years (in millions):

$10.1 in 2006; $11.6 in 2007; $13.2 in 2008; $14.9 in 2009;

$14.7 in 2010. In the five years thereafter (2011-2015) the

Company expects to pay $99.3 million. 

NOTE G – POSTRETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS

We sponsor several unfunded health care benefit plans for certain of our retired employees. Eligibility for these benefits

is based upon minimum age and service requirements. The following table illustrates the effect on operations of these plans

for the three years ended May 31, 2005:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans 

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Service cost – Benefits earned during this period $ 11 $ 11 $ 9 $265 $205 $168 
Interest cost on the accumulated obligation 661 634 649 473 396 325 
Amortization of unrecognized (gains) losses 27 (47) 28 

Net Periodic Postretirement Expense $699 $645 $611 $766 $601 $493 

The changes in the benefit obligations of the plans at May 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans 

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2005 2004

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at 
beginning of year $11,465 $ 9,884 $ 6,815 $ 4,970 

Service cost 11 11 265 205 
Interest cost 661 634 473 396 
Benefit payments (1,013) (908) (122) (129)
Actuarial (gains) losses 353 1,844 333 822 
Amendments (308)
Currency exchange rate changes 567 551 

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at 
end of year 11,169 11,465 8,331 6,815 

Unrecognized actuarial gains (losses) (1,796) (1,470) (1,542) (1,142)
Unrecognized prior service cost (benefit) 308 

Accrued Postretirement Health Care Benefits $ 9,681 $ 9,995 $ 6,789 $ 5,673 

Measurement dates of May 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, were used to determine postretirement benefit measure-

ments outlined above. 
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The Company expects to pay approximately $1.0 mil-

lion in estimated postretirement benefit expense in each of

the next five years. In the five years thereafter (2011-2015)

the Company expects to pay $5.3 million. 

We have determined that our postretirement medical

plan provides prescription drug benefits that will qualify for

the federal subsidy provided by the Medicare Prescription

Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“Act”).

For our current retirees who are not subject to cost caps, we

have assumed that we will be eligible for the subsidy begin-

ning in 2006 and for all future years. For our current and

future retirees who are subject to cost caps, we have

assumed that we will be eligible for the subsidy beginning

in 2006 and ending on average in 2012.

We have reflected the impact of the Act for the first

time in the fiscal year end 2005 accumulated postretirement

benefit obligation (“APBO”). We have reflected the change

in the APBO as an actuarial gain in accordance with FASB

Staff Position No. FAS 106-2. The impact will be reflected

net of periodic expense for the first time beginning with

the quarter ended August 31, 2005.

NOTE H – CONTINGENCIES AND LOSS RESERVES

Accrued loss reserves and asbestos-related liabilities

consist of the following:

May 31 2005 2004

(In thousands)

Accrued product liability reserves $ 57,414 $ 47,402 
Accrued warranty reserves 5,822 5,670 
Accrued environmental reserves 2,216 3,627 

Accrued loss reserves – current 65,452 56,699 
Asbestos-related liabilities – current 55,000 47,500 

Total Reserves – Current $120,452 $104,199 

Accrued warranty and product 
liability reserves – noncurrent $ 8,044 $ 5,579 

Asbestos-related liabilities – 
noncurrent 46,172 43,107 

Total Reserves – Noncurrent $ 54,216 $ 48,686 

We provide, through our wholly owned insurance 

subsidiaries, certain insurance coverage, primarily product

liability, to our other subsidiaries. Excess coverage is 

provided by outside carriers. The reserves reflected above

The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine our year-end benefit obligations and net periodic

postretirement benefit costs under the plans:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

Year-End Benefit Obligations 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Discount rate 5.75% 6.00% 6.70% 6.00% 6.25% 7.00%
Current healthcare cost trend rate 10.00% 10.00% 9.00% 8.00% 9.00% 9.00%
Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Year ultimate healthcare cost trend rate 

will be realized 2015 2014 2008 2008 2008 2008

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Discount rate 6.00% 6.70% 7.25% 6.25% 7.00% 7.25%
Healthcare cost trend rate 10.00% 9.00% 8.00% 9.00% 9.00% 9.00%
Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Year ultimate healthcare cost trend rate 

will be realized 2014 2007 2008 2008 2007 2008

Increasing or decreasing current healthcare cost trend rates by 1% would affect accumulated postretirement benefit

obligation and net postretirement expense by the following amounts for the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2005 2004

1% Increase in trend rate
Accumulated Benefit Obligation $ 950 $980 $ 1,617 $1,423 
Postretirement Cost 60 50 163 135 

1% Decrease in trend rate
Accumulated Benefit Obligation (830) (850) (1,262) (1,177)
Postretirement Cost (50) (50) (123) (127)
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provide for these potential losses as well as other uninsured

claims. In fiscal 2005, product liability reserves increased to

$57.4 million, or by approximately $10.0 million, as a result

of our continuing evaluation of our liability under a pre-

liminarily court-approved class action lawsuit settlement

covering our Dryvit exterior insulated finish systems product

line. The Dryvit reserve increase was $16.2 million. The 

liability was substantially covered by excess coverage from

outside insurance carriers, and offsetting receivables were

recorded and are reflected as current and long-term receiv-

ables. The increase in the accrual in 2005 relating to the

class action lawsuit had no impact on our statement of

income as a result of the outside insurance funding. This

accrual increase is expected to bring us nearer to closure on

the class action lawsuit. 

Certain of our wholly owned subsidiaries, principally

Bondex International, Inc. (“Bondex”), along with many

other U.S. companies, are and have been involved in a large

number of asbestos-related suits filed primarily in state

courts during the past two decades, with a majority of

claims pending in five states – Illinois, Ohio, Mississippi,

Texas and Florida. These suits principally allege personal

injury resulting from exposure to asbestos-containing 

products previously manufactured by the Company’s sub-

sidiaries. The alleged claims relate primarily to products that

Bondex or its predecessor sold through 1977. In many cases,

plaintiffs are unable to demonstrate that they have suffered

any compensable loss as a result of such exposure, or that

injuries incurred resulted from exposure to Bondex products.

The rate at which plaintiffs filed asbestos-related suits

against Bondex increased in the fourth quarter of 2002 and

the first two quarters of 2003, influenced by the bankruptcy

filings of numerous other defendants in asbestos-related 

litigation. Based on the significant increase in asbestos

claims activity which, in many cases, disproportionately

increased Bondex’s exposure in joint and several liability law

states, our third-party insurance was depleted within the

first quarter of 2004, as previously reported. Our third-party

insurers historically had been responsible, under various

cost-sharing arrangements, for the payment of approxi-

mately 90% of the indemnity and defense costs associated

with our asbestos litigation. Prior to this sudden precipitous

increase in loss rates, the combination of book loss reserves

and insurance coverage was expected to adequately fund

asbestos loss payments for the foreseeable future. We have

reserved our rights with respect to various of our third-

party insurers’ claims of exhaustion, and in late calendar

2002 commenced reviewing our known insurance policies to

determine whether or not other insurance limits may be

available to cover our asbestos liabilities. 

As a result of this examination and as previously 

disclosed, certain of our subsidiaries filed a complaint for

declaratory judgment, breach of contract and bad faith

against various third party insurers challenging their asser-

tion that their policies covering asbestos-related claims have

been exhausted. Since the July 3, 2003 filing in Ohio, this

action was consolidated with a related case and, pursuant

to a case management order, the parties are to complete

fact discovery by March 31, 2006 and dispositive motions

and expert discovery by September 1, 2006. A trial date of

January 29, 2007 has been set; however, it is possible that

this and other dates may be modified as the coverage 

case progresses. 

We are unable at the present time to predict the timing

or ultimate outcome of this insurance coverage litigation.

Consequently, we are unable to predict whether, or to what

extent, any additional insurance may be available to cover a

portion of our subsidiaries’ asbestos liabilities. We have not

included any potential benefits from this litigation either in

our financial statements or in calculating our asbestos

reserve. Our wholly-owned captive insurance companies

have not provided any insurance or re-insurance coverage

of any asbestos-related claims.

During 2003 and early fiscal 2004, new state liability

laws were enacted in three states (Mississippi, Ohio and

Texas) where at that time more than 80% of the claims

against Bondex were pending. Effective dates for the last

two of the law changes were April 8, 2003 and July 1, 2003.

The changes generally provided for liability to be deter-

mined on a “proportional cause” basis, thereby limiting

Bondex’s responsibility to only its share of the alleged

asbestos exposure. During the third and fourth fiscal quar-

ters of 2004, two of the three previously mentioned states

that adopted “proportional cause” liability in 2003 passed

additional legislation impacting medical criteria and product

identification in asbestos-related litigation. In 2005, addi-

tional states including Florida and Georgia, have adopted

various medical criteria-based asbestos legislation. While

there have been some changes in the type of claims filed in

certain of these states, the ultimate influence these law

changes may have on future claims activity and settlement

values is not known at this time. Claims in Mississippi, Ohio

and Texas at the year ended May 31, 2005, coupled with the

non-malignancy filings in Florida, currently comprise approx-

imately 80% of the aggregate claims filed against Bondex.
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At the end of 2002 and through the third fiscal quarter

of 2003, Bondex had concluded it was not possible to esti-

mate the cost of disposing all of the asbestos-related claims

that might be filed against Bondex in the future due to a

number of reasons, including its lack of sufficient compar-

able loss history from which to assess either the number or

value of any future asbestos-related claims. As previously

disclosed, during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2003, Bondex

retained a consulting firm to assist in analyzing its loss 

history data, to evaluate whether it would be possible to

estimate the cost of disposing pending claims in light of

both past and recent loss history, and to assist in determin-

ing whether future asbestos-related claims reasonably

expected to be filed against Bondex were measurable,

given recent changes in various state laws and the prospect

of potential federal asbestos-related legislation.

Bondex provided the consultants with all relevant data

regarding asbestos-related claims filed against Bondex

through May 31, 2003. Management, with the consultants’

input, concluded that it was not possible to currently 

estimate the full range of the cost of resolving all future

asbestos-related claims against Bondex. Estimating the

future cost of asbestos-related contingent liabilities was 

and continues to be subject to many uncertainties, including

(i) the ultimate number of claims filed; (ii) the cost of 

resolving both current known and future unknown claims;

(iii) the amount of insurance, if any, available to cover such

claims, including the outcome of coverage litigation against

the subsidiaries’ third party insurers; (iv) future earnings

and cash flow of the Company’s subsidiaries; (v) the impact

of bankruptcies of other companies whose share of liability

may be imposed on the Company’s subsidiaries under 

certain state liability laws; (vi) the unpredictable aspects of

the litigation process including a changing trial docket and

the jurisdictions in which trials are scheduled; (vii) the out-

come of any such trials including judgments or jury verdicts,

as a result of our more aggressive defense posture which

includes taking selective cases to verdict; (viii) the lack of

specific information in many cases concerning exposure to

the subsidiaries’ products and the claimants’ diseases; 

(ix) potential changes in applicable federal and/or state law;

and (x) the potential impact of various proposed structured

settlement transactions or subsidiary bankruptcies by other

companies, some of which are the subject of federal appel-

late court review, the outcome of which could materially

affect any future asbestos-related liability estimates. In addi-

tion, during both calendar years 2003 and 2005, passage by

the United States Senate Judiciary Committee of proposed

legislation to establish a trust fund to pay future asbestos

related claims and remove such cases from federal and state

courts with industry and insurers funding the trust continues

to be a significant variable that has made it increasingly 

difficult to predict with certainty the full exposure of

future, unknown asbestos-related claims. The ongoing

prospect of federal trust fund legislation is expected to 

continue to be a significant variable in assessing our future

asbestos-related liabilities.

Based on the foregoing considerations, at May 31,

2003, we concluded that we could not fully estimate the 

liability that would result from all future asbestos claims.

We established a reserve for those pending cases that had

progressed to a stage where the cost to dispose of these

cases could, at the time, reasonably be estimated, as well as

a $51.2 million provision for future unasserted claims that

were estimable at May 31, 2003. The estimation of even

pending cases was and is always difficult due to the dynamic

nature of asbestos litigation including the variables dis-

cussed above. The estimated range of potential loss covering

measurable known asbestos claims and the provision for

future claims that were estimable at May 31, 2003 was

$140.0 million to $145.0 million. Accordingly, we established

a reserve equal to the lower end of this range of potential

loss by taking an asbestos charge to fiscal 2003 operations

of $140.0 million. At the time of the reserve, we believed

that this asbestos reserve would be sufficient to cover

asbestos-related cash flow requirements over the estimated

three-year life of the reserve. The $140.0 million charge also

included $15.0 million in total projected defense costs over

the estimated three-year life of the reserve. By comparison,

Bondex’s share of costs (net of then-available third-party

insurance) for asbestos-related product liability was $6.7

million and $2.8 million for the years ended May 31, 2003

and 2002, respectively. 

Since May 31, 2003, we have reviewed and evaluated

on a quarterly basis the adequacy of our asbestos reserve.

The range of loss calculation for the $140 million reserve

was based on an extensive analysis of the most critical 

factors that influence our asbestos-related costs including:

(i) the gross number of open malignancy claims (principally

mesothelioma claims) as these claims have the most signifi-

cant impact on our asbestos settlement costs; (ii) historical

and current settlement costs and dismissal rates by various

categories; (iii) analysis of the jurisdiction and governing

law of the states in which these claims are pending; (iv) and

outside defense counsel’s opinions and recommendations
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with respect to the merits of such claims. Although the

number of open malignancy claims has remained relatively

constant, subject to some quarterly variability, since May 31,

2003 continuing through the year ended May 31, 2005, our

average settlement costs for malignancy claims have declined

and dismissal rates have increased. Several defense verdicts

during the second half of fiscal 2004 further contributed to

lower settlement values and higher dismissal rates. Our

defense costs, however, have increased significantly as a

result of our more aggressive defense strategy, which now

includes taking selective cases to verdict.

Based on our review of our asbestos reserve for the

second quarter ended November 30, 2004, we concluded

that the $56.0 million balance of the $140.0 million reserve

would not likely be sufficient to cover our asbestos-related

cash flow requirements for the remainder of the full 

three-year period originally contemplated by the reserve.

Accordingly, we concluded that an increase in our existing

reserve was appropriate and took an asbestos reserve

adjustment of $47.0 million for the quarter ended Novem-

ber 30, 2004, which we believed would be sufficient to

cover any incremental cash flow requirements through 

fiscal 2006 not covered by the $140.0 million reserve, as well

as the additional cash flow requirements for the balance of

our then pending known claims and anticipated higher

defense costs. Approximately $32.0 million of the $47.0 mil-

lion reserve adjustment was allocated to anticipated higher

future defense costs. During the third fiscal quarter ended

February 28, 2005, based on a review of our pending 

known claims coupled with a review of our defense costs,

we concluded that an increase in our existing reserve was

appropriate. An asbestos reserve adjustment of $15.0 mil-

lion was taken for the quarter ended February 28, 2005.

With cash outlays of $21.9 million in the third quarter, our

asbestos reserves aggregated $96.3 million at February 28,

2005, which we believed would be sufficient to cover the

cash flow requirements for the balance of our then-pending

known claims and defense costs. Our $15.0 million reserve

increase assumed that approximately $6.1 million will be

allocated to anticipated higher future defense costs, which

we expected to continue. 

During the fourth quarter ended May 31, 2005, an

additional $16.0 million was added to the asbestos reserve

based on management’s quarterly review of pending claims

and defense costs. With cash outlays of $11.1 million in the

quarter, our asbestos reserves aggregate $101.2 million at

May 31, 2005, which we believe will be sufficient to cover

the cash flow requirements for the balance of our pending

known claims and defense costs. Of the $16.0 million reserve

increase, approximately $15.8 million is expected to be 

allocated to anticipated higher future defense costs, which

we expect to continue. As we review our asbestos reserve

each quarter, we will make appropriate adjustments to the

reserve based on our most recent experience to ensure that

it is sufficient to cover the anticipated settlement and

defense costs associated with our then pending, known

claims. We will continue to evaluate the appropriateness of

estimating the value of any potential future unknown

asbestos claims and at such time as we are able to quantify

such future exposure, we will establish a reserve for such

unknown future claims.

We recognize that future facts, events and legislation,

both state and/or federal, may alter our estimates of both

pending and future claims. We cannot estimate possible 

liabilities in excess of those accrued because we cannot 

predict the number of additional claims that may be filed 

in the future, the grounds for such claims, the potential 

settlement values associated with any such future claims,

the ultimate resolution of such claims, the full impact of the

state law changes enumerated above or the effect of pend-

ing federal trust fund legislation on future asbestos claims.

Subject to the foregoing variables, including the timing and

impact of such variables and the increase in the asbestos

reserve, we believe that our asbestos reserves are sufficient

to cover asbestos-related cash flow requirements for the

current inventory of our known claims. It is, however, 

reasonably possible that our actual costs for claims could

differ from current estimates but, based upon information

presently available, such costs are not expected to have a

material effect on our competitive or financial position or

our ongoing operations. As previously disclosed, however,

our existing reserve will not presently cover the costs of

future unknown claims and therefore, additional reserves

will be required in future periods for any such future claims.

Any such future reserve increases, when taken, could have a

material impact on our results in such period.

The Company will continue to evaluate its asbestos-

related loss exposure each quarter and review the adequacy

of its reserve and the related cash flow implications in light

of our most recent actual claims experience, the impact of

state law changes and the evolving nature of federal legis-

lative efforts to address asbestos litigation. We will continue

to explore all feasible alternatives available to resolve our

asbestos-related exposure in a manner consistent with the

best interests of our stockholders.
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In addition, like others in similar businesses, we are

involved in several proceedings relating to environmental

matters. It is our policy to accrue remediation costs when it

is probable that such efforts will be required and the

related costs can be reasonably estimated. These liabilities

are undiscounted. Provision for estimated warranty costs is

recorded at the time of sale and periodically adjusted to

reflect actual experience.

Due to the uncertainty inherent in the loss reserve 

estimation process, we are unable to estimate an additional

range of loss in excess of our accruals. It is at least reason-

ably possible that actual costs will differ from estimates,

but, based upon information presently available, such

future costs are not expected to have a material adverse

effect on our competitive or financial position or our 

ongoing results of operations. However, such costs could be

material to results of operations in a future period.

NOTE I – SEGMENT INFORMATION

We operate a portfolio of businesses that manufacture

and sell a variety of specialty paints, protective coatings and

roofing systems, sealants and adhesives. We manage our

portfolio by organizing our businesses into two operating

segments — industrial and consumer— based on the nature

of business activities, products and services; the structure of

management; and the structure of information as presented

to our Board of Directors. Within each segment, individual

operating companies or groups of companies generally

address common markets, utilize similar technologies, and

can share manufacturing or distribution capabilities. 

In addition to two operating segments, there are 

certain business activities, referred to as corporate/other,

that do not constitute an operating segment, including cor-

porate headquarters and related administrative expenses,

results of our captive insurance companies, gains or losses

on the sales of certain assets and other expenses not

directly associated with either operating segment. Related

assets consist primarily of investments, prepaid expenses,

deferred pension assets, and headquarters property and

equipment. These corporate and other assets and expenses

reconcile operating segment data to total consolidated net

sales, income before income taxes, identifiable assets, 

capital expenditures, and depreciation and amortization.

The ten largest consumer segment customers repre-

sented approximately 25%, 25% and 24% of our consoli-

dated net sales and approximately 57%, 55% and 53% of

consumer net sales for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Sales to The Home Depot represented 11%, 11% and 11%

of our consolidated net sales and 26%, 25% and 24% of 

our consumer segment net sales for 2005, 2004 and 2003,

respectively.

We reflect income from our joint ventures on the

equity method, and receive royalties from our licensees.

Total income from royalties and joint ventures amounted to

approximately 2% or less of income before income taxes for

each of the periods presented, and is therefore included as

an offset to selling, general and administrative expenses.

Export sales amounted to less than 10% of net sales for

each of the three years presented. 

The following table reflects the results of our operating

segments consistent with our management philosophy, and

represents the information we utilize, in conjunction with

various strategic, operational and other financial perform-

ance criteria, in evaluating the performance of our portfolio

of businesses. 

The following table illustrates the movement of current and long-term asbestos-related liabilities for the three years

ended May 31, 2005:
Additions

Charged to
Balance at Selling, General Deductions Balance at
Beginning and (Primarily End of

(In thousands) of Period Administrative Claims Paid) Year

Year Ended May 31, 2005 $ 90,607 $ 78,000 $67,435 $101,172
Year Ended May 31, 2004 144,583 53,976 (a) 90,607 
Year Ended May 31, 2003 3,377 146,650 5,444 (b) 144,583

(a) Represents the Company's portion of total claims paid during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2004 of $63.4 million, net of insurer contributions totaling
$9.4 million. Insurance coverage was depleted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2004.

(b) Represents the Company's portion of total claims paid during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2003 of $54.4 million, net of insurer contributions totaling
$49.0 million.
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NOTE J – QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended May 31, 2005 and 2004:

For Quarter Ended

(In thousands, except per share amounts) August 31 November 30 February 28 May 31

2005

Net Sales $661,513 $623,469 $516,337 $754,416 
Gross Profit $294,887 $270,688 $211,117 $329,859 
Net Income $ 54,486 $ 9,112 $ (4,772) $ 46,206 
Basic Earnings Per Share $0.47 $0.08 $(0.04) $0.39 
Diluted Earnings Per Share(a) $0.44 $0.08 $(0.04)(b) $0.37 

Dividends Per Share $0.14 $0.15 $0.15 $0.15 

For Quarter Ended

(In thousands, except per share amounts) August 31 November 30 February 29 May 31

2004

Net Sales(c) $581,023 $581,541 $473,978 $671,011 
Gross Profit(c) $267,043 $257,575 $203,803 $302,760 
Net Income $ 47,672 $ 35,223 $ 6,018 $ 52,973 
Basic Earnings Per Share $0.41 $0.30 $0.05 $0.46 
Diluted Earnings Per Share(a) $0.39 $0.29 $0.05 $0.43 

Dividends Per Share $0.13 $0.14 $0.14 $0.14 

(a) Includes dilutive effect of EITF 04-8 as discussed in Note D.
(b) Dilutive effects of our contingently convertible debt not included as it would be anti-dilutive.
(c) See cooperative advertising reclassifications as discussed in Note A.

Quarterly earnings per share may not total to the yearly earnings per share due to the weighted average number of

shares outstanding in each quarter.

Year Ended May 31 2005 2004 2003

(In thousands)

Segment Information
Net Sales

Industrial $1,441,548 $1,272,781 $1,117,877
Consumer 1,114,187 1,034,772 935,605 
Corporate/Other

Total $2,555,735 $2,307,553 $2,053,482 

Income Before 
Income Taxes

Industrial $ 168,578 $ 140,706 $ 122,568
Consumer 147,601 142,852 131,100
Corporate/Other (152,451) (65,942) (205,815)

Total $ 163,728 $ 217,616 $ 47,853

Identifiable Assets
Industrial $1,271,145 $1,111,978 $1,067,921 
Consumer 1,138,894 1,090,531 1,038,350
Corporate/Other 246,206 147,582 137,184 

Total $2,656,245 $2,350,091 $2,243,455 

Capital Expenditures
Industrial $ 30,714 $ 26,043 $ 18,741
Consumer 24,175 23,303 22,095
Corporate/Other 720 1,907 978

Total $ 55,609 $ 51,253 $ 41,814

Depreciation and 
Amortization

Industrial $ 33,213 $ 30,764 $ 27,537
Consumer 29,264 29,503 29,216
Corporate/Other 3,515 3,010 1,921

Total $ 65,992 $ 63,277 $ 58,674

Geographic Information
Net Sales (based on 
shipping location)

United States $2,009,748 $1,841,837 $1,655,609 

Foreign
Canada 192,579 172,894 144,882 
Europe 250,585 207,557 175,657
Other Foreign 102,823 85,265 77,334

Total Foreign 545,987 465,716 397,873 

Total $2,555,735 $2,307,553 $2,053,482 

Assets Employed
United States $2,167,285 $1,884,387 $1,827,910 

Foreign
Canada 205,433 154,815 151,771
Europe 266,564 242,063 197,654
Other Foreign 16,963 68,826 66,120

Total Foreign 488,960 465,704 415,545

Total $2,656,245 $2,350,091 $2,243,455 
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NOTE K – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On July 22, 2005, our Tremco subsidiary entered into a

definitive purchase agreement to acquire Illbruck Sealant

Systems (“Illbruck”). Illbruck, located in Leverkusen, 

Germany, is a provider of high-performance sealant and

installation systems. With sales of $190.0 million, the acqui-

QUARTERLY STOCK PRICE AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION

RPM shares of common stock are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol RPM. The high and low

sales prices for the shares of common stock, and the cash dividends paid on the common stock, for each quarter of the two

most recent fiscal years are set forth in the table below.

Range of Sales Prices and Dividends Paid

Fiscal 2005 High Low Dividends paid per share

First Quarter $16.02 $13.85 $0.140 
Second Quarter $18.99 $15.71 $0.150 
Third Quarter $19.95 $17.58 $0.150
Fourth Quarter $19.25 $16.51 $0.150

Fiscal 2004 High Low Dividends paid per share

First Quarter $14.20 $12.28 $0.130
Second Quarter $15.28 $12.90 $0.140
Third Quarter $17.24 $14.93 $0.140
Fourth Quarter $17.00 $13.29 $0.140

Source: The Wall Street Journal

Cash dividends are payable quarterly, upon authorization of the Board of Directors. Regular payment dates are approxi-

mately the last day of July, October, January and April.

The number of holders of record of RPM common stock as of August 1, 2005 was approximately 35,278.

sition will increase RPM’s global presence in core water-

proofing and sealants system technologies. The acquisition

is expected to be finalized by early September, pending

appropriate European government approval at which point

Illbruck will be a wholly-owned subsidiary.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

The management of RPM International Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control

over financial reporting for the company, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(“Exchange Act”). RPM’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

and even when determined to be effective, can only provide reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement prepa-

ration and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of RPM’s internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2005. In making

this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, management concluded that, as of

May 31, 2005, RPM’s internal control over financial reporting is effective.

Ciulla, Smith & Dale, LLP, who audited the consolidated financial statements of RPM International Inc. as of and for the

year ended May 31, 2005, have also audited management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting and issued

a report which is included herein.

Frank C. Sullivan Robert L. Matejka

President and Chief Executive Officer Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Controller

July 7, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries

Medina, Ohio

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Com-

pany”) as of May 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash 

flows for each of the three years in the period ended May 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 

management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe

that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the

Company as of May 31, 2005 and 2004 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended May 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2005, based on the criteria

established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread-

way Commission and our report dated July 7, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of

the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Cleveland, Ohio

July 7, 2005, except as to Note K, which is as of July 22, 2005.
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TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS

RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries

Medina, Ohio

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal Control

Over Financial Reporting,” that RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal 

control over financial reporting as of May 31, 2005 based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is respon-

sible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal

control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective

internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an under-

standing of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design

and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 

circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the com-

pany’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the 

company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposi-

tions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, 

or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or

improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected

on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to

future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the

degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial 

reporting as of May 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control –

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our 

opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of May 31,

2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States), the consolidated balance sheets of RPM International Inc. and Subsidiaries as of May 31, 2005 and 2004, and the

related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period

ended May 31, 2005, and our report dated July 7, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Cleveland, Ohio

July 7, 2005

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(left to right, top to bottom)

Dr. Max D. Amstutz (2) Elected 1995; 

Chairman, Finter Bank Zurich, Switzerland

Edward B. Brandon (1), (3*) Elected 1989; 

retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 

National City Corporation, Cleveland, Ohio 

(a financial holding company)

Bruce A. Carbonari (4) Elected 2002; 

President and Chief Executive Officer, Fortune 

Brands Home and Hardware (a consumer 

products company specializing in kitchen, 

bath and related products)

James A. Karman Elected 1963; 

retired Vice Chairman, RPM International Inc.

Donald K. Miller (2*) Elected 1972; 

Chairman, Axiom International Investors LLC, 

Greenwich, Connecticut (an international 

equity asset management firm)

William A. Papenbrock (4), (2**), (3**) Elected 

1972; retired Partner and past Vice Chairman 

of the Executive Committee, Calfee, Halter 

& Griswold LLP, Cleveland, Ohio (attorneys 

at law)

Albert B. Ratner (1), (3) Elected 1996; 

Co-Chairman of the Board of Forest City 

Enterprises, Inc., Cleveland, Ohio (a diversified 

real estate development corporation)

Frank C. Sullivan (1*) Elected 1995; 

President and Chief Executive Officer

Thomas C. Sullivan (1) Elected 1963; 

Chairman of the Board, retired Chief 

Executive Officer, RPM International Inc.

William B. Summers, Jr. (2) Appointed 

2004; Chairman, McDonald Investments 

Inc., Cleveland, Ohio (an investment 

banking and securities firm and 

a subsidiary of KeyCorp)

Dr. Jerry Sue Thornton (1), (3), (4**) 

Elected 1999; President of Cuyahoga 

Community College

Joseph P. Viviano (4*) Elected 2001; 

retired Vice Chairman, Hershey Foods 

Corporation, Hershey, Pennsylvania

(1) Executive Committee
(2) Audit Committee
(3) Compensation Committee
(4) Governance & Nominating Committee
* Chairman to the Committee
** Alternate member of Committee

OFFICERS Frank C. Sullivan
President and Chief Executive Officer

P. Kelly Tompkins
Senior Vice President, General Counsel 

and Secretary

Ronald A. Rice
Senior Vice President – Administration 

and Assistant Secretary

Dennis F. Finn
Vice President – Environmental 

and Regulatory Affairs

Glenn R. Hasman
Vice President – Finance 

and Communications

Paul G. P. Hoogenboom
Vice President – Operations 

and Chief Information Officer

Stephen J. Knoop
Vice President – Corporate Development

Robert L. Matejka
Vice President – Chief Financial Officer 

and Controller

Keith R. Smiley
Vice President, Treasurer 

and Assistant Secretary
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INDUSTRIAL SEGMENT CONSUMER SEGMENT

A/D Fire Protection Systems Inc.
Scarborough, Ontario

www.adfi re.com

Agpro (N.Z.) Limited
Auckland, New Zealand

www.agpro.co.nz

Alteco Technik GmbH
Twistringen, Germany

www.alteco-technik.de

APSA S. p. A.
Milan, Italy

Carboline Company
St. Louis, Missouri

www.carboline.com

Chemical Specialties Mfg. Corp.
Baltimore, Maryland

www.chemspecworld.com

Compact Technology GmbH
Traunreut, Germany

www.compacttech.com

Day-Glo Color Corp.
Cleveland, Ohio

www.dayglo.com

Dryvit Systems, Inc.
West Warwick, Rhode Island

www.dryvit.com

Ecoloc N.V.
Brecht, Belgium

www.lock-tile.com

The Euclid Chemical Company
Cleveland, Ohio

www.euclidchemical.com

Fibergrate Composite
Structures Incorporated
Dallas, Texas

www.fi bergrate.com

Kop-Coat, Inc.
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

www.kop-coat.com

National Building Facility Services, Inc.
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

www.nbfsinc.com

Nullifi re Limited
Coventry, United Kingdom

www.nullifi re.com

Radiant Color N.V.
Houthalen, Belgium

www.radiantcolor.be

Republic Powdered Metals, Inc.
Medina, Ohio

www.rpmrepublic.com

RPM/Belgium N.V.
Tielt, Belgium

www.rpm-belgium.be

Stonhard
Div. of StonCor Group, Inc.

Maple Shade, New Jersey

www.stoncor.com

www.stonhard.com

TCI, Inc.
Ellaville, Georgia

www.tcipowder.com

Tremco Barrier Solutions, Inc.
Reynoldsburg, Ohio

www.guaranteeddrybasements.com

Tremco Incorporated
Beachwood, Ohio

www.tremcoinc.com

Weatherproofi ng
Technologies, Inc.
Beachwood, Ohio

www.tremcoroofi ng.com

Bondo Corporation
Atlanta, Georgia

www.bondo.com

Chemical Coatings, Inc.
Hickory, North Carolina

DAP Canada
Div. of RPM Canada

Scarborough, Ontario

www.dap.com

DAP Products Inc.
Baltimore, Maryland

www.dap.com

Guardian Products, Inc.
Hickory, North Carolina

www.guardianproducts.net

Mantrose-Haeuser Co., Inc.
Westport, Connecticut

www.mbzgroup.com

Martin Mathys N.V.
Zelem, Belgium

www.ro-m.com

Modern Masters Inc.
North Hollywood, California 

www.modernmastersinc.com

New Parks 
Div. of Zinsser Co., Inc.

Somerset, New Jersey

www.newparks.com

RPM Wood Finishes Group, Inc.
Hickory, North Carolina

www.mohawk-fi nishing.com

www.hbehlen.com

www.starfi nishing.com

Rust-Oleum Argentina S.A.

Buenos Aires, Argentina

www.rustoleum.com/international.asp

Rust-Oleum 
Consumer Brands Canada
Div. of RPM Canada

Toronto, Canada

Rust-Oleum Corporation
Vernon Hills, Illinois

www.rust-oleum.com

Rust-Oleum Japan Corporation
Yokohama, Japan

www.roj.co.jp

Rust-Oleum Netherlands B.V.
Roosendaal, Netherlands

www.rust-oleum.nl

The Testor Corporation
Rockford, Illinois

www.testors.com

Thibaut Inc.
Newark, New Jersey

www.thibautdesign.com

Westfi eld Coatings Corp.
Westfi eld, Massachusetts

Wolman Wood Products 
Div. of Zinsser Co., Inc.

Somerset, New Jersey

www.wolman.com

Zinsser Co., Inc.
Somerset, New Jersey

www.zinsser.com

PLANT LOCATIONS

Argentina

Belgium

Canada

China

Colombia

Germany

Italy

Mexico

The Netherlands

New Zealand

Poland

South Africa

United Arab Emirates

United Kingdom

United States

TRADEMARKS USED IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT

‘33’®, Alex Plus®, Alumanation®, American Accents®, B-I-N®, Bondex®, Bondo®, Carboline®, Chemspec®, DAP®, Day-Glo®, Does it All!™, 

Dryvit®, Dymeric®, Epoxy Shield®, EUCO®, Fibergrate®, Flecto®, Kop-Coat®, Kwik Seal®, MasterClear™, Modern Masters®, Mohawk®, 

Nature Seal®, Painter’s Touch™, Paraseal®, Perma-White®, Phenoseal®, Plasite®, Plastic Wood®, Prepz™, Rust-Oleum®, Side Winder®, 

Stonblend®, Stonhard®, Stops Rust®, Sure-Grip™, TCI®, Testors®, Thibaut®, Treadfast® (“UK”), Tremclad®, Tremco®, Tuff-N-Dri®, Valvtect®, 

Varathane®, Vulkem®, Watchdog Waterproofi ng®, Weldwood®, Woolsey®, Zinsser® and Z*Spar® are registered trademarks of the subsidiary 

corporations of RPM International Inc.

CCI™, Chalk-It™, Compact Technology™, Crackle Creations™,  Guardian™, Lock Tile™, Mathys™, Pettit™, Republic Powdered Metals™, Truck 

Guard Ultra™, Ultima™, WaterTite™, Westfi eld Coatings™ and WTI™ are trademarks of the subsidiary corporations of RPM International Inc.

Wolman® is a registered trademark of Arch Wood Protection, Inc. used under license by subsidiary corporations of RPM International Inc.  

Watco® is a registered trademark of Watco Limited used under license by subsidiary corporations of RPM International Inc.  
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STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

WORLD HEADQUARTERS

RPM International Inc.

2628 Pearl Road

P.O. Box 777

Medina, OH 44258

Telephone: 330-273-5090 or 800-776-4488

Fax: 330-225-8743

Web site: www.rpminc.com

E-mail: info@rpminc.com

ANNUAL MEETING

Stockholders are invited to attend RPM’s Annual Meeting, which will be held 

at the Holiday Inn Select, 15471 Royalton Road, Strongsville, Ohio, at 2 p.m. 

Friday, October 7, 2005. Directions can be found on the RPM web site.

FORM 10-K AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Investors may obtain, at no charge, a copy of the RPM Annual Report to the 

Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K, a corporate video and 

other investor information by writing to Kathie M. Rogers, Manager of Investor 

Relations, at RPM International Inc.

The Form 10-K, other public financial reports and news releases may also 

be obtained electronically through our web site, www.rpminc.com, under 

“Investor Information.”

ANNUAL CERTIFICATIONS

RPM has fi led the certifi cations required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002 as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to the 10-K for the fi scal year 

ended May 31, 2005.  In addition, on November 2, 2004, RPM fi led the Chief 

Executive Offi cer certifi cation with the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), 

pursuant to the NYSE Listed Company Manual 303A.12, certifying that the 

Chief Executive Offi cer is not aware of any violation by the company of NYSE 

corporate governance listing standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Copies of the RPM Board of Directors Corporate Governance Guidelines, 

as well as the Charters of the committees of the board and RPM’s Code of 

Conduct, are available on the company’s web site at www.rpminc.com, under 

“Investor Information/Corporate Governance.” Copies of these materials are 

also available without charge upon written request to the Secretary of RPM.

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTOR AND SECURITY ANALYST INQUIRIES

Security analysts and investment professionals with questions regarding 

RPM should contact Glenn R. Hasman, Vice President of Finance and 

Communications, at 330-273-8820 or at ghasman@rpminc.com.

DIVIDEND PAYMENTS

Common stock cash dividends are payable quarterly, upon authorization of 

the Board of Directors. Regular payment dates are typically the 31st of July, 

October and January and the 30th of April. RPM has increased the cash 

dividend payments to its stockholders for 31 consecutive years.

STOCK TRANSFER AGENT, REGISTRAR AND

DIVIDEND DISBURSING AGENT

National City Bank maintains RPM’s stockholder records and is responsible 

for disbursing dividend checks. Questions concerning your account, change 

of address, transfer of ownership, lost certificates, safekeeping of stock 

certificates, dividend payments and other related items should be directed to:

National City Bank, Department 5352

Corporate Trust Operations 

P.O. Box 92301

Cleveland, OH 44193-0900

Telephone: 800-988-5238 or 800-622-6757

Fax: 216-257-8508

E-mail: shareholder.inquiries@nationalcity.com

www.nationalcitystocktransfer.com

DIRECT DEPOSIT OF DIVIDENDS

Stockholders of record may have their  dividends deposited directly into 

their checking or savings account through the Direct Deposit Program at no 

charge. For information regarding this service, please contact National City 

Bank at the address shown above.

INTERNET ACCOUNT ACCESS

Stockholders of record may access their accounts via the Internet to 

review account holdings and transaction history through National City Bank’s 

StockAccessSM at www.ncstockaccess.com. Stockholders can download frequently 

used forms as well from this web site. For log-in assistance, stockholders 

should contact National City Bank at 800-622-6757 or 800-988-5238.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

RPM maintains a Dividend Reinvestment Plan whereby cash dividends, and 

up to an additional $5,000 per month, may be invested in RPM shares at 

no commission cost. Approximately 86 percent of the stockholders of record 

 participate in the RPM Dividend Reinvestment Plan. Details of the Plan 

are available by contacting RPM, Shareholder Services, at 800-776-4488. 

Questions concerning existing Dividend Reinvestment accounts should be 

directed to:

National City Bank, Department 5352

Corporate Trust Operations

P.O. Box 94946

Cleveland, OH 44101-4946

Telephone: 800-988-5238 or 800-622-6757

Fax: 216-257-8367 

E-mail: shareholder.inquiries@nationalcity.com

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

Ciulla, Smith & Dale, LLP, Cleveland, Ohio (for fiscal 2005)

Ernst & Young LLP, Cleveland, Ohio (effective fiscal 2006)

COUNSEL

Calfee, Halter & Griswold LLP, Cleveland, Ohio

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

RPM International Inc. is listed on the New York Stock Exchange 

(ticker symbol “RPM”).
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